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Mortgages

• We lent £21.3m to help new members and other 
customers to acquire or remortgage their home 

• We reduced mortgage assets to £406.2m 
(from £436.6m) during a period of severe economic 
uncertainty and to focus resource on existing members

• We granted 570 payment holidays in line with 
government COVID-19 relief

• 3+ Month arrears cases reduced from 15 to 11 cases

Savings and Funding 

• Share balances reduced by £2.4m during a period of 
significantly reduced mortgage activity 

• The Society continued to offer competitive savings 
rates, with priority given to existing members

• The Society replaced £33.5m Bank of England 
borrowings, which were due to mature in 2021, with 
£40m of new borrowings with the Bank of England 
which will mature in 2025

Financial Strength 

• The increase in profit before tax to £2.2m (2020: £1.5m) 
was due to higher lending in previous years 

• As a building society where profits are our only source 
of capital, regulatory capital increased to £25.8m

• The Society finished the year with a very strong level of 
liquidity, £116.3m (2020: £101m)

• Gross capital ratio* improved to 5.38% from 4.86%

* Refer to the Annual Business Statement on page 96

Performance Highlights 
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2020 will surely go down as one of the worst 
years in living memory. In addition to having 
to cope with the COVID-19 pandemic, we 
were faced with the uncertainties that leaving 
the EU has presented. On the world stage, a 
divided United States was set to choose its next 
president. On their own, each of those items 
was capable of causing immense disruption. 
Occurring together was a test of resilience that 
hopefully we will not have to endure again.  

Dealing with any sort of crisis is something 
we, at Dudley, prepare for as we have over 
our history. In recent times we have invested 
cautiously in being able to maintain services 
even in extremely adverse circumstances. In 
fact, it is a requirement of our regulators. Our 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic was swift 
and decisive. Whilst we have had to reduce 
branch opening hours during each period of 
restriction imposed on us, we are treated as 
essential and we have been able to keep all 
services operating, changing several times 
to accommodate our members’ requests. I 
know some of the changes we have had to 
make have not been easy for members or 
colleagues. I recall standing in a queue outside 
our Gornal branch on a cold December day for 
30 minutes to ensure we could maintain social 
distancing to protect everyone. 

 

At the same time, we decided to concentrate 
efforts on existing members rather than 
pursue new business. This meant that we were 
able to deal with the many requests from 
borrowers for a period of mortgage payment 
deferral. When I say ‘deal’, I mean that we 
were able to speak directly to every one of the 
570 borrowers who approached us for this 
facility. For me, this goes to the heart of what a 
building society should stand for. Automation 
has its place, but at times of need people want 
to talk to people. I am delighted that we were 
able to do this. By shortening branch opening 
hours it also meant that our colleagues 
could speak to more members choosing to 
telephone rather than visit us.

The Government’s support for people and 
businesses affected by COVID-19 has clearly 
cushioned what might otherwise have been 
a period of extreme difficulty and I realise that 
some may yet face hardship. We will continue 
to help, particularly borrowers, should they face 
an uncertain future.

In reacting in the way we have to the 
pandemic, there have been some 
consequences. We have not been able to 
grow in the way that we have planned prior 
to the pandemic, and our mortgage balances 
are down on last year.

Key Performance Indicators 2018 2019 2020 2021

Pre-Tax Profit £1.55m £1.60m £1.48m £2.21m

Total Assets £397.4m £438.5m £541.3m £525.7m

Reserves £22.5m £23.8m £24.9m £26.7m

Mortgage Lending £82.2m £92.6m £125.1m £21.3m

Chairman’s Statement

I joined your Board in January 2020 and was 
asked by my fellow Directors to become 
Chairman after David Milner’s retirement at the 
July Annual General Meeting. This is, therefore, my 
first statement to Members.



Profit levels have been maintained whilst our 
policies of fair interest rates have also been 
a feature of our operations. Capital remains 
strong and has grown year-on-year from 
£24.6m to £25.8m. 

Returning to the pandemic, I would like to 
express deep condolences to any of our 
members or colleagues who have lost loved 
ones during the ordeal. Can I also pay tribute 
to my colleagues at Dudley who have carried 
on during difficult circumstances but whose 
resilience has been and continues to  
be exceptional.

As ever, your Board has been highly supportive 
and I would like to especially thank Paul Doona 
who steps down this year after serving nine 
years as a director. To finish, may I thank you, 
our members, for the support you have shown 
during the last year. I am convinced that we 
will see the end of this situation quite soon. 

Chairman’s Statement

I’m hoping that the 
values we hold dear 
as a local building 
society have stood 
us in great stead in 
2020 and will continue 
to do so in the future. 
I look forward with 
excitement to the 
years ahead.

PETER HUBBARD 
CHAIRMAN
20 MAY 2021

Our strategy has received further focus 
during the year and continues to be about 
controlled mortgage growth funded by 
deposits from saving members, whenever 
possible, at rates which are above market 
averages. The mortgage markets we operate 
in are generally not well served by larger 
lenders. This is a central pillar of our strategy. 
Put simply, we have the expertise within the 
Society to assess and service borrowers and 
mortgages that others can’t.
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During the periods of restricted movement 
over the last year, we have always tried to be 
there for our members, our employees and 
our communities. Afternoon appointments 
only for vulnerable customers were routinely 
available. Occasionally it was necessary to 
close branches at short notice. We did so to 
enable employees to get themselves tested 
and for the branch in question to be cleaned. 
This became a routine part of the lockdowns. 

A very strong sense of community has been 
more evident than in the recent past and I 
will touch on just a couple of examples. With 
the Society’s support, employees were able 
to ask local NHS hospital staff what they most 
valued. For those of us looking in at how the 
NHS was coping, the provision of wash-bags 
probably wasn’t uppermost in our minds but 
on learning that those supervising the care of 
COVID-19 patients had to shower after every 
session, the initiative was seized. The delivery 
of 1,100 washbags to two local NHS hospitals 
was extremely well-received at a time when 
relatively little was known about the pandemic. 
There were many other examples of employees 
and their teams rallying to help whenever it 
was needed and this has become part of the 
Society’s Giving Back Programme.  

Many are asking what the fallout and impact 
will be from the economy’s near closure. We 
continuously monitor and model a variety of 
outcomes, some severe, and in all cases the 
Society has sufficient capital to withstand 
the effect. In terms of interest rates, the Bank 
of England lowered its Bank Base Rate to a 
historically low 0.10% in April 2020. When the 
next movement will take place will only be 
determined as the economy improves and 
consumer confidence returns. 

As the Chairman’s statement mentions, we 
deliberately slowed new mortgage business 
through most of 2020 to concentrate on 
existing members. As a result of higher 
mortgage redemptions than completions 
and taking a new drawdown of the latest Bank 
of England Term Funding Scheme, we have 
ended our financial year with a high level of 
liquidity. We considered this prudent and fair 
to members wishing to continue placing their 
savings with us. The reduction in mortgage 
balances and consistent level of profitability 
has led to improved capital ratios. 

Financial regulators throughout the world 
have directed financial organisations to 
consider climate change amongst the risks 
and issues that should be measured  
and managed. Our approach is to understand 
what risks might be faced by borrowers even 
if they haven’t yet made the statute books. 
An example of what might come is improved 
property insulation. At the same time, we 
will need to be able to calculate and seek to 
reduce our own carbon footprint. From 2022, 
we will be required to report on progress in our 
Annual Report and Accounts.  

As the Chairman has already described, the 
last year has been like no other. By the time our 
Report and Accounts are published, I hope that 
we will have vaccinated a large proportion of the 
population and that confidence will have returned.  

Chief Executive’s Review



I would like to add my very sincere thanks 
to members for their support and patience 
during the past 16 months. Finally, and to our 
employees, for the way you have adapted to a 
changed way of working, a heartfelt thank you 
to each and every one of you. 

We will come through 
this pandemic and I 
look forward to your 
Society continuing 
to serve you, our 
members, as we have 
for the last 163 years.

JEREMY WOOD 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE
20 MAY 2021

Chief Executive’s Review

It may not have escaped members that a 
very significant new feature was introduced 
earlier this year. We launched an Online 
Service for new and existing members to 
open a regular savings account online as  
well as view their accounts with us.  
I consider this to be an important step 
forward for your Society and, for many,  
it will become the chosen way of dealing with 
us. At the same time as the Online Service 
came on stream, we made some alterations 
to the brand to ensure its alignment to 
this new way of serving members. I would 
urge members to take a look at the new 
Online Service and also to let us have email 
addresses if you have one. Many members 
will want to continue to deal with us in a 
traditional fashion but for others, opening an 
electronic capability gives us the opportunity 
to make our services available to those who 
want a modern, digital experience.
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This strategic review describes the Society’s strategy 
and how the Board goes about agreeing and then 
setting it. It also gives Members an insight into how the 
strategy is being implemented. 

The 2020-21 year will be remembered as the year of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Very few people were not affected 
in some way by it and your Society was no exception. 
But, because of the very clear strategic direction set and 
decisions taken, your Society has so far weathered this 
particular storm well. 

Having achieved strong mortgage growth in the two 
previous years, the Board had agreed that the 2020-21 
financial year should be one of consolidation without the 
ambitious growth targets set and achieved previously. 
As the pandemic struck, it was straightforward and 
sensible to concentrate efforts on existing rather than 
seeking new members. Your Board believes that its 
ability and willingness to take and implement decisions 
quickly gives us a significant advantage. 

An organisation’s strategy is a strong indicator of its 
future direction. In setting the strategy, your Board has 
paid particular attention to:

• Dudley’s heritage, 

• its geographic location, and 

• what needs to be in place to ensure its sustainability. 

Many members will be aware that the Society was 
established in 1858 with the aim of helping local people 
to buy their own homes. Today’s strategy in terms of 
mortgage provision is quite similar; we look at specific 
parts of the market which are underserved and help 
those people meet their mortgage needs. 

Being a regional building society, whose members 
are overwhelmingly based in the Black Country and 
its vicinity, our strategy recognises the importance of 
the local community. We remain committed to those 
members who want to continue to use our branches 
whilst also realising that there is a growing number 
who want to deal with us only digitally. Our recently-
introduced online service means that we can serve  
both groups. 

Business Objectives and Principal Activities

The Society’s principal activity is the provision of long-
term residential mortgages to borrowers, financed by 
personal savings from members. 

The Society’s objectives are to: 

• provide competitive savings products primarily for the 
local community and mortgage products nationally; 

• preserve its identity as an independent local Building 
Society within the community; 

• maintain adequate reserves to safeguard members’ 
funds; 

• provide customer care and a quality service to its 
members. 

In meeting these objectives, the Society needs to 
balance carefully the need to retain sufficient earnings 
to ensure the sustainability of the Society for the benefit 
of Members, employees and the local community, at 
the same time recognising the importance of continued 
investment in the Society. 

In its mortgage markets, the Society selects areas which 
are considered to be under-served by competitors 
and in which the Society can achieve an appropriate, 
risk-adjusted return. In the retail savings market, the 
Society seeks to attract funding through its branches 
by offering good value rates over the lifetime of the 
Society/member relationship. This year the Society also 
launched an online channel. 

Strategic Report 
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Results for the year and Key  
Performance Indicators 

One of the Board’s roles is to set the strategy for 
the Society. The Board manages the Society and 
oversees delivery of the agreed strategy using a set of 
performance and control reports, including use of Key 
Performance Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs in use throughout 
2020/21, with previous year comparatives, are presented 
in the table below together with explanatory comment. 

Business Review 

The Society prepares its financial results under Financial 
Reporting Standard (FRS) 102, “The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland” 
and elects to apply the measurement and recognition 
provisions of IAS39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and measurement (as adopted for use in the EU)”.

Overview of income statement 

2021 2020 2019 2018

Trading performance 
Mortgage advances £21.3m £125.1m £92.6m £82.2m 
Total mortgage assets £406.2m £436.6m £359.6m £315.2m 
Total shares balances £446.4m £448.8m  £354.2m £333.0m 

2021 2020 2019 2018

Financial strength 

Net interest margin 2.00% 2.03% 2.22% 2.29% 
Management expenses ratio 1.64% 1.65% 1.73% 1.94% 
Pre-tax profit £2.21m £1.48m  £1.60m £1.55m 
Regulatory capital £25.8m £24.6m £23.7m £22.2m 
Liquid assets (% of SDL) 23.42% 19.7% 18.4% 21.1% 
Arrears 3 months or greater (no.) 11 15  25 18 

£000s
  

2021
  

2020
Net interest receivable 10,678 9,967 
Other income and charges (21) (110)
Administrative expenses (8,307) (7,677) 
Depreciation and amortisation (441) (415) 
Impairment credit / (charge) 302 (285) 

Profit before tax 2,211 1,480 

Taxation (427) (298) 

Profit after tax 1,784 1,182 
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Profits are the principal source of new capital available 
to the Society. As a mutual, owned by its members and 
without external shareholders, any profits are retained 
within the business contributing to capital strength 
and providing the platform for continued investment in 
services and service improvements for Members. 

Net interest margin 
The Society’s net interest margin for the year ended 31 
March 2021 was 2.00% (31 March 2020: 2.03%).  
The amount of net interest earned by the Society 
will vary according to the volume and mix of assets 
and liabilities and the rates of interest that apply. 
Throughout the 2020/21 financial year the Society 
continued to balance the needs of both borrowing 
and savings members whilst also ensuring the Society 
achieves sufficient profits to sustain the Society’s capital 
position. The Society has continued to ensure it pays 
a competitive rate to savers despite the falling rate 
environment. At the year end the average savings rate 
paid was 0.71% (2020 1.13%).

Other income and charges 
Other income and charges comprise fees and charges 
not accounted for within the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) 
methodology and bank charges. Also shown within this 
summary heading are fair value gains on derivative 
financial instruments of £57,000 (2019/20: fair value 
losses of £85,000). 

Derivatives are used solely for risk management 
purposes and are an important tool for managing 
exposure to changes in interest rates from the Society’s 
portfolio of fixed rate mortgages and savings products. 
All of the Society’s derivatives are in economic hedges 
with the majority in qualifying hedge accounting 
relationships. The net gain of £57,000 (2019/20: loss 
£85,000) comprises: 

• Accounting ineffectiveness in designated hedge 
relationships:  £54,000 

• Gain on derivatives not in designated hedge 
accounting relationship: £3,000

Management Expenses 
Administrative expenses comprise of staff costs together 
with all other costs and overheads necessary for the 
Society to function. Together with depreciation and 
amortisation charges they comprise the total operating 
costs for the Society. 

Management expenses for the year were £8,748,000 
(2019/20 £8,092,000). During the year the Society made 
a significant investment in an online facility which went 
live in March 2021. Total operating costs as a percentage 
of mean total assets, decreased from 1.65% to 1.64%. 

Impairment (credit) / charge 
The Society maintains an appropriate provisioning 
policy designed to protect against future difficulties 
in the housing market and makes provisions for any 
estimated losses resulting from loans that are impaired 
on either an individual or collective basis. The provision 
requirement reduced by £353,000 in the year: 

At the 31 March 2021 the Society held provisions totalling 
£1,195,000 (2020: £1,548,000), analysed as follows:

Following several years of significant mortgage 
growth, the Board had, even before the pandemic 
struck, determined that 2020-21 would be a year of 
consolidation. This proved to be well-judged as it 
meant our resources could be directed at helping those 
members who were most impacted by the effects  
of COVID-19. 

Net mortgage lending was negative during the year and 
at the year-end mortgage assets were £406,180,000 
(£436,604,000). Mortgage redemptions and repayments 
were higher than new mortgages completed. 

Throughout 2020-21, the FCA had issued guidance to 
lenders about the actions it expected them to take when 
faced with borrowers who sought forbearance from 
their usual monthly mortgage payment. For the most 
part, the guidance instructed lenders to offer periods 
of deferment (holidays) from normal payment of up to 
six months in total. As at 31 March 2021 the Society had 
made 570 such arrangements. As at the balance sheet 
date, 21 accounts remain on active payment deferment 
arrangements. For the most part, borrowers who took 
advantage of a payment deferment have added the 
missed payments to their existing mortgage which will 
require marginally higher monthly payments in future. 
Forbearance cases represent total outstanding capital 
balances of £4,122,000 (2020: £59,442,000). 

The guidance ended on 31 March 2021 and no further 
arrangements will be permitted under these measures 
after that date.

 

£000s
  

2021
  

2020
Collective impairment (credit) / charge (361) 238 
Individual impairment charge 8 47 

Total impairment (credit) / charge (353) 285 

Recovery on sale of properties in 
possession 51 - 

Total (credit) / charge to the income 
statement (302) 285 

£000s
  

2021
  

2020
Collective provision 635 996 
Individual provision 560 552 

Total 1,195 1,548 

Strategic Report (cont)
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Arrears Management 
The Society continues to actively manage its mortgage 
accounts in arrears, always taking into account 
individual customer circumstances. At 31 March 2021 the 
Society had three accounts on which payments were 
twelve months or more in arrears (2020: nil), with a total 
arrears balance outstanding of £26,000 (2020: nil) and 
capital balance of £275,000 (2020: nil). The number of 
cases in arrears fell during the year and as at 31 March 
2021, 66 borrowers were experiencing arrears (2020: 77), 
25 of which were related to COVID-19 related payment 
deferment arrangements. Individual provisions have 
been made where necessary in respect of all  
arrears cases. 

During 2020, the FCA implemented a moratorium on 
lenders taking certain types of legal action against 

borrowers. This included seeking repossession of owner 
occupied property. 

At the end of the year the Society had 2 properties in 
possession (2020: 4). The Society has made great strides 
to help borrowers remain in their homes by using every 
appropriate means to encourage customers’ motivation 
and enthusiasm to continue as owners. 

Profitability 
The after-tax profit of £1,784,000 (2020: £1,182,000) 
represents 0.33% (2020: 0.24%) of mean total assets. 
At 31 March 2021 the Society’s reserves amounted to 
£26,722,000 (2020: £24,933,000) and are at a level 
considered by the Board to offer adequate support for 
the business. 

Assets 
Total assets reduced during the year by £15,566,000 
(2020: increase £102,765,000) and at 31 March 2021 
amounted to £525,741,000 (2020: £541,307,000) 
representing a reduction of 2.9% (2020: increase 23.4%).

. 

Liquid assets 
The Society’s liquid assets is comprised of assets 
reported on the Statement of Financial Position in the 
form of cash deposits and other high-quality liquid 
assets. The Society holds liquid assets to ensure it has 
sufficient levels to meet its obligations as they fall due 
and in accordance with the Board’s risk appetite and 
regulatory requirements. 

The total of investments and cash at bank and in hand 
at 31st March 2021, amounted to £116,256,000 (2020: 
£101,052,000) and represented 23.4% of shares and 
borrowings (2020: 19.7%). 

The majority of the Society’s liquid assets are held in  
the form of deposits with the Bank of England.  
Total liquidity comprised: 

A key regulatory measure of liquidity is the Liquidity 
Coverage Ratio (LCR), which measures unencumbered 
high-quality liquid assets as a percentage of net cash 
outflows over a 30-day stress period. As at 31 March 2021 
the Society reported an LCR of 366% (2020: 297%).  
This was significantly in excess of minimum  
regulatory requirements. 

Overview of statement of financial position  

£000s
  

2021
  

2020
Liquid assets 116,256 101,052 
Loans and advances to customers 406,180 436,604
Fixed and other assets 3,305 3,651 
Total assets 525,741 541,307 
Shares 446,416 448,846 
Amounts owed to other customers 49,885 64,259
Other liabilities 2,718 3,269 
Total liabilities 499,019 516,374 

Reserves 26,722 24,933 

Total liabilities and reserves 525,741 541,307 

£m
  

2021
  

2020
Bank of England 94 66 
UK Government 10 25 
Other Bank deposits 12 8 
Building Society deposits - 2 

Total 116 101 
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Mortgages 
The majority of the Society’s mortgages are advanced 
to owner-occupiers. The Society plays an important 
role in lending to people in later life who can find it 
difficult to borrow as they approach or are already in 
retirement. Expertise has been developed in the Society 
to underwrite and service this type of lending and 
therefore provide this substantial market with much-
needed mortgage solutions. Mortgage advice is almost 
exclusively provided by mortgage intermediaries who 
are well placed to source the most appropriate product 
for a borrower. 

Shares and deposits 
Funding provided by Members is overwhelmingly the 
most important source of funding for the Society, 
although, for reasons of prudence, it is important that 
the Society has access to an appropriately diverse 
range of other sources. The main source of alternative 
funding continues to be the Bank of England. 

With lower demand for mortgages in 2020-21, funding 
requirements were commensurately reduced but the 
Society has a commitment to fair rates of interest and 
whenever possible to keep rates above the market 
average. The Society did not always reduce its rates as 
competitors did on numerous occasions. As a result, 
savings balances were stable during 2020-21 ending the 
year at £446,416,000 (2020: £448,846,000). 

Funding 
The Society remains an active participant in the Bank 
of England’s Sterling Monetary Framework. In March 
2021 the Society drew £40,000,000 under the Bank’s 
Term Funding Scheme with additional incentives for 
SMEs (TFSME), using £33,500,000 of these funds to repay 
in full the Society’s outstanding loan under the Bank’s 
Term Funding Scheme (TFS). The new loan is repayable 
no later than four years from the date of drawdown. 
To support funding diversification and to provide 
contingency facilities the Society also has access to 
shorter (6-month term) funding through the Bank of 
England’s Indexed Long-Term Repo (ILTR) scheme. 

Capital 
Capital consists of the Society’s reserves plus collective 
provision balances, less intangible asset balances which 
are required by capital regulations to be deducted from 
capital. The minimum level of capital required to be 
held is set by the Prudential Regulation Authority (PRA) 
however, the Board has a risk appetite to hold capital 
in excess of this requirement to protect the Society 
and its members from the effect of shocks or stresses. 
After regulatory deductions, and including the 2021 
audited profit, the Society’s regulatory capital stood at 
£25,784,000 at 31 March 2021 (2020: £24,579,000) which 
delivers headroom of £7,276,000 above the minimum 
regulatory capital requirement at 31 March 2021. 

At 31 March 2021 the Society’s gross capital ratio was 
5.38% of shares and borrowings (2020: 4.86%). The free 
capital ratio was 4.96% of shares and borrowings  
(2020: 4.53%). 

Further details on the Society’s management of capital 
is set out in Note 30 to the accounts and includes a 
reconciliation of capital per the statement of financial 
position to regulatory capital. 

Our Environment 
Over the past 12 months, we are proud to report that we 
have become a carbon neutral Society. We will offset 
our carbon footprint by planting trees both in the local 
area and in the Amazon rainforest. In addition, we will be 
working closely to identify ways in which we can further 
reduce our footprint. 

Members can help us achieve this by registering their 
details to receive communications electronically – 
please contact us to ensure your marketing details and 
preferences are up to date. 

The impact of climate change is firmly on our agenda 
and we have created a green finance working group 
to increase awareness and identify ways in which the 
Society and membership can respond. 

Our Community 
Because of its local base, the Society is keen to serve 
its communities by offering career opportunities, 
supporting local charities, involvement in local events 
and providing a level of service deemed to be highly 
personal which makes us easy to do business with. 

The Society is passionate about ensuring that people 
of all ages have the capability to make sound financial 
decisions. We have collaborated with Young Money in 
order to achieve this and will be launching a whole host 
of activities to support this ambition. 

Throughout the year, it became increasingly important 
that the Society should give something back to its local 
community. We are proud that we were able to donate 
1,000 wash bags to the doctors and nurses working 
on the COVID-19 Isolation Ward at Russell’s Hall NHS 
Hospital. In addition, we donated 100 wash bags to Bushy 
Fields NHS where our charity of the year Dudley Mind is 
also based, and our branches teamed with local care 
homes to donate care packages and activities. 

 Strategic Report (cont)
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Our People 
All of our employees are encouraged to volunteer in the 
community with paid leave. We expect to continue this 
work into the next financial year. 

The Society believes employees should represent its 
member base where possible, reflecting its diversity 
including age, ethnicity, gender, religion and disability 
as far as possible. The Society also understands the 
importance of considering diversity in terms of values 
and culture, for a broader range of skills, experiences 
and perspectives. 

The Society believes the importance in which diversity 
can be beneficial for improving decision-making and 
providing effective challenge. Diverse workforces, 
made up of members with different skills, knowledge, 
experience and values will support different perspectives 
being brought to discussion on business operations and 
risk strategy. This reduces the risk of groupthink, which 
can adversely affect the safety and soundness of  
the Society. 

The Society monitors the diversity of its Board, Executives 
and employees regularly, recently conducting a survey 
on Diversity and Inclusion. The outcome was presented 
to the Board and discussion took place during the 
Nomination Committee. All of our people practices are 
designed to encourage diversity and inclusion. 

During the year under review, the Society chose not to 
utilise the furlough scheme that was introduced by the 
UK Government as part of the economic measures to 
mitigate any potential adverse impact as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

Our Society 

Our key focuses this year have been to engage with our 
members on topics such as Financial Wellbeing and 
Cyber and Fraud Awareness. Unfortunately, Fraudsters 
have taken advantage of the pandemic and criminals 
are using ever more sophisticated methods. We aim to 
equip our members with tools to increase their financial 
confidence and avoid being victims of crime.
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Directors 

The following persons were Directors of the Society 
during the year:- 

Peter Hubbard  (Chairman) 

Paul Doona  (Deputy Chairman) 

Zamir Chaudhry   

Nicole Coll    

Tariq Khatri     

Jeremy Wood  (Chief Executive) 

Darren Garner  (Finance Director  
  to 16/07/2020) 

Kieron Blackburn  (Appointed 13/07/2020; 
  Finance Director from 
  17/07/2020) 

Samantha Ward   (Commercial Director)

During the year, the Board appointed Kieron Blackburn 
as a Director. Kieron was employed on a one year 
contract and will retire from the Board in July  
2021, hence will not stand for election. Paul Doona will 
retire from the Board in July 2021 and so is not standing 
for election. 

All other Directors are subject to annual re-election. 
Therefore, Peter Hubbard, Zamir Chaudhry, Nicole Coll, 
Tariq Khatri, Jeremy Wood and Samantha Ward all retire 
and offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. 

Engaging with our Stakeholders 
The Society’s Board is committed to operating in line 
with best practice standards of corporate governance 
as set out in the UK Corporate Governance code  
(“the Code”). In order to comply with the Code, a firm is 
required to explain how the directors have considered 
the views of stakeholders as part of the long-term 
decision-making process in the form of a Section  
172 Statement. 

Whilst the Society is not required to comply with the 
Code, to ensure that the Society remains committed 
to best practice under the guiding principles that the 
Society operates, the Board believes that the views of 
stakeholders should be considered when making  
long-term decisions. 

The obligations set out in the statement require the 
directors to act in the way they consider, in good faith, 
would be most likely to promote the success of the 
Society for the benefits of its members as a whole, and 
in doing so have regard across a number of key areas:

• The likely consequences of decisions in the long term; 

• How we engage with and take account of employees’ 
interests; 

• How we foster effective working relationships with 
wider stakeholders such as suppliers; 

• How any community and environmental impacts of 
our operations are considered; 

• How a reputation for high standards of business 
conduct is maintained; and 

• The need to act fairly and balance the interests of 
members.

A summary of the Society’s engagement with its key 
stakeholders is presented opposite.

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their 162nd 
Annual Report, prepared in the context of the UK 
Corporate Governance Code and in accordance with 
the requirements of the Building Societies Act.  
The Directors’ Report should be read in conjunction 
with the Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive’s 
Review and Strategic Report. 

Information presented in other sections 

Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 March 2021 

Business objectives and activities Strategic report (page 10) 
Business review and future developments Strategic report (page 11)
Disclosure requirements under CRD IV Country by Country reporting Note 31 to the Accounts
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Stakeholder Group Why are they important? How the Society engages with them

Savings and Borrowing 
Members

As a mutual organisation, our 
members are the owners of the 
Society. The Board recognises 
that in order to achieve long-term 
success, it is critical to understand 
and address the needs of our 
members, whilst ensuring delivery 
of the Strategy.

The Society is committed to communicating 
with Members through regular newsletters, social 
media and Society events. 
The Society also engages with its members by 
collecting feedback via an independent review 
platform, Smart Money People, who undertake 
consumer reviews on behalf of the Society. 
Each year the Society sends details of the AGM 
to members who are eligible to vote. Ordinarily 
members are able to attend in person if they wish. 
Due to COVID restrictions this was not possible 
in 2020. The Society expects that members will 
be able to attend the AGM in person as soon as 
it is safe to do so. Members are encouraged to 
exercise their right to vote. Members are provided 
with forms which enable them to vote utilising 
a proxy if they are unable to attend the AGM. 
Members can also vote online.

Employees Our people are critical in the 
successful delivery of the Strategy 
to our members. By listening to 
and acting upon the views of our 
people, we will create a culture 
where the needs of our members 
are addressed through  
outstanding customer service. 

The Society engages with employees in several 
ways, including regular meetings, employee 
surveys, newsletters, video calls and video 
updates. 
The Society also holds a monthly employee forum, 
where employees can share their views and 
ideas to enhance employee engagement and 
initiatives. 
Employee surveys are conducted, and the results 
are reviewed by Executive and Management 
teams with actions taken to address issues raised. 
With employees working from home during 
the COVID-19 pandemic, the Society has taken 
additional steps to support employee well-being, 
which included campaigns, well-being calls and 
flexible working arrangements. 

The Society has trained Mental Health First Aiders, 
who are available to provide all employees with 
support, where required. 

Third Parties Our third parties that we work with 
are critical in helping us to operate 
the Society and delivering quality 
service to our members.

Regular review meetings are held with the 
Society’s third parties by Business Development 
Managers and the Society’s key contacts. Third 
parties are notified of any key updates by email, 
phone call or face to face meetings, where 
possible. 

Community As a Society with a mutual ethos  
at its core, we believe in supporting 
our local communities as a 
fundamental part of what we do. 

Whilst continuing to support the Society’s Charity 
of the Year, Dudley Mind, for a second year 
running, the Society has also supported health 
and care workers during the pandemic. From 
donations of wash bags to care packages, the 
Society reached out and offered a helping hand 
to those in our local community. 
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Stakeholder Group Why are they important? How the Society engages with them

Environment It is our duty to fully understand 
and reduce the impact that the 
Society’s operations may have on 
the environment thus ensuring our 
members can be served now and 
in the future. 

The Society undertook a full review of its 
Corporate Social Responsibility Policy and has 
paid attention to four key principles; our People, 
our Environment, our Community and our 
Customer. 
This has led the Society to evaluate its carbon 
footprint and has now become a carbon neutral 
organisation by donating to a project that plants 
trees in the local area and the Amazon rainforest. 
The Society has also introduced a Climate 
Change Working Group, which considers ways in 
which the Society can continue to improve the 
Society’s energy efficiency. 

Regulators As a regulated Financial Services 
firm, the Society recognises the 
need to maintain an open and 
transparent relationship with  
both the FCA and PRA. 

Key regulatory matters are covered within  
the material provided to the Board on a  
monthly basis. 
Regular dialogue is maintained with the  
Society’s regulators covering principal risks  
and other matters. 
Regulatory “horizon scanning” is provided  
through the Society’s monthly regulatory  
reporting framework. 

Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
The day to day operations of the Society exposes the 
Society to a range of financial and non-financial risks, 
owned by the relevant accountable Executive. Their risk 
management aims to ensure the outcome of risk-taking 
activity is consistent with the Society’s strategy, Board 
risk appetite, appropriate to the Society’s business, 
compliant with regulation and giving due regard to 
regulatory guidance. In this way, risk management also 
seeks to achieve an appropriate balance between risk 
and reward to optimise member returns and, where 
issues arise, to manage for the best outcome for the 
Society and its members. 

The Society adopts a three lines of defence model to 
separate risk management activities between those 
responsible for risks and controls, independent oversight 
support and challenge, and internal audit assurance. 
The Society has an Enterprise Risk Management 
Framework (ERMF) that documents the Society’s formal 
structure for managing risks and Board Risk Appetite. 
This is the key tool used by the Society’s second line 
Governance, Risk & Compliance (GRC) team in providing 
oversight to risk management. 

The Board delegates its risk oversight to a Risk 
Committee, which reviews risk limits, reporting lines, 
mandates and other control procedures. Specifically, 
the Society’s Assets and Liabilities Committee is charged 
with the responsibility for managing and controlling 
the balance sheet exposures and the use of financial 

instruments for risk management purposes. Full details 
regarding the risks and the financial instruments used 
by the Society are given in Note 27 to the Accounts. 

Risk Culture 

The Society considers its mutual status as paramount 
to its identity. Culture within the Society includes the 
implicit rules, ideas and norms that sustain our values 
and enable our Society Expectations Framework, which 
defines required behaviours, decision-making principles 
and wider operating practices. Risk culture is a subset 
that governs how the Society’s employees manage the 
risks associated in delivering the Corporate Plan, the 
agreed strategy and day-to-day operations. It includes 
risk awareness, understanding, appetite and mitigation. 

The Society is governed by and is proud of its strong 
risk culture and aims to maintain a low exposure to 
risk, in order to best protect members’ interests. The 
Board places significant emphasis on every line of 
defence having the correct ownership of risk through 
training, management and reporting. Exemplary 
conduct is expected from everyone in the organisation 
as defined by our Dudley Building Society values. 
Over the last twelve months, the Society has invested 
heavily in evolving the design of the ERMF. This has 
driven enhanced embeddedness of risk through first 
line of defence business areas, further efficiency and 
effectiveness within the second line Governance, Risk 
and Compliance Team and improved cohesion with the 
Society’s out-sourced internal audit provider.



19

Stress Testing
Stress testing is a risk management tool used by 
the Society to understand the impact of severe but 
plausible scenarios on its business performance. The 
Society uses a prescribed Internal Capital Adequacy 
Assessment Process (ICAAP) and Internal Liquidity 
Adequacy Assessment Process (ILAAP) to identify capital 
and liquidity risks with stress testing undertaken as 
part of these processes. These tests are agreed by the 
Board ahead of the assessments being carried out. 
Other stress tests including operational- and IT-based 
risk events are also undertaken with the output from all 
processes used to inform Board risk appetite, policies, 
management actions and contingency plans. 

Capital stress tests are conducted in the ICAAP.  
These include stresses of risks existing in the business 
and potential future risk scenarios. During the year 
the Board has also received regular stress tests of 
the mortgage assets, and in particular the impact 
of COVID-19 related outcomes such as employment 
furloughs and payment holidays. 

Liquidity stress tests are performed on a regular basis 
with results reported to the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee (ALCO). These stress tests help identify any 
shortfalls in the Society’s levels of liquidity in a range of 
scenarios. The Society has a Board-agreed risk appetite 
for interest rate risk whereby hedging measures are 
required to be put in place so that the impact on 
earnings of a 2% shift in interest rates cannot exceed 
£600,000 and the outcome of stress tests is measured 
against this risk appetite. 

The PRA carries out an assessment of the Society and 
may issue specific minimum capital and liquidity levels 
based on its assessment of the risks faced by the 
Society, including under stressed conditions. The Society 
has a strong level of communication with its regulatory 
supervisory team enabling advance notification of plans 
to be managed more effectively. 

Recovery and Resolution Plans 

It is a regulatory requirement for all Banks and Building 
Societies to construct plans that detect possible failure 
and minimise the consequences of failure should 
it occur. The Society maintains a Board-approved 
Recovery Plan and a separate Resolution plan that 
outlines a series of options the Society could credibly 
take to recover from a Society-specific or market-
wide stress. The Resolution Plan contains prescribed 
information necessary for the Bank of England to 
establish an orderly resolution of the Society in the 
event that recovery is not possible. Both documents are 
updated at least annually. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
The principal business risks to which the Society is 
exposed are considered to be:

Credit Risk 
Credit risk refers to the potential risk that arises from 
customers (or counterparties) failing to meet their 
obligations as they fall due, resulting in an actual 
or potential loss exposure for the Society. Credit risk 
arises primarily from two categories: Retail lending, 
comprising loans to our retail mortgage customers and 
historic loans to our commercial mortgage customers; 
and Treasury activities, arising from our liquid asset 
investments. As a primary lender, the Society faces 
credit risk as an inherent component of its lending 
activities. Adverse changes in the credit quality of 
the Society’s borrowers, deterioration in UK economic 
conditions or adverse changes in UK or even global 
systemic risks could reduce the recoverability of the 
Society’s assets. 

Credit risk is mitigated through the Society’s Lending 
Policy and separate Treasury and Prudential Risk 
Management Policy which reflect the Board’s approved 
low risk tolerance and which include clear guidelines in 
respect of processes and exposure management. The 
Society has adopted an approach to lending which 
restricts our lending activities mainly to prime quality 
residential mortgages for owner-occupiers, with lending 
decisions fully underwritten on an individual basis. The 
Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is responsible 
for managing Treasury activity and recommends limits 
on Treasury counterparties, country exposures and types 
of financial instruments for approval by the Society 
Board within regulatory guidelines. 

An analysis of the Society’s mortgage portfolio by 
geographic region, LTV and of the Society’s arrears is 
provided in Note 27 to the accounts. 

Interest Rate Risk 
Interest Rate risk is the risk that the value of, or income 
arising from, the Society’s assets and liabilities varying 
as a result of changes in interest rates. Interest rate risk 
arises from imperfect matching of different interest rate 
features, repricing dates and maturities of mortgages, 
savings and wholesale products. 

Market risk is the risk of changes to the Society’s financial 
condition caused by movements in market interest rates 
or the early redemption of assets. The Society is exposed 
to market risk in the form of changes (or potential 
changes) in the general level of interest rates, changes 
in the relationship between short and long-term interest 
rates and divergence of interest rates for different 
balance sheet elements (basis risk). 
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The sensitivity to changes in interest rates impacts the 
following activities: 

1. Management of the investment of reserves and 
other net non-interest-bearing liabilities; 

2. Fixed rate funding; 

3. Fixed rate mortgage and treasury lending. 

The Society has adopted the “Matched” approach to 
interest rate risk, as defined by the PRA, which aims to 
undertake the hedging of individual transactions within 
an overall strategy for structural hedging, based on a 
detailed analysis of the statement of financial position. 

Interest rate swaps are used, where appropriate, to 
manage the risks outlined above. In addition, swaps are 
used to manage risks arising from a net exposure to 
an interest rate basis type e.g. SONIA. The Society also 
monitors prepayment levels on fixed rate mortgages 
and aims to set an Early Repayment Charge consistent 
with the interest rate risk exposure. 

The Society will have no assets, liabilities or derivatives 
that reference LIBOR after 31 December 2021. 

The management of interest rate risk is based on a 
full statement of financial position gap analysis. The 
statement of financial position is subjected to a stress 
test of a 2% rise in interest rates on a monthly basis and 
the results reported to ALCO. 

Management also reviews interest rate and basis 
risk under stressed scenarios. Results are measured 
against the risk appetite for market risk which is set at a 
maximum of £600k and are reported to the Board Risk 
Committee and Board. 

Other interest rate exposures, for example, basis risk 
(the risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship 
between interest rates which have similar but not 
identical characteristics – Bank of England Bank rate 
and Libor,) and prepayment risk (the risk of loss arising 
from early redemption of fixed rate mortgages and 
loans) are also monitored closely and regularly reported 
to ALCO. 

The Board has considered the potential impact of 
negative interest rates. The Board considers a Bank 
Base rate of up to -0.25% would have little impact on 
the Society. A rate environment more negative than this 
would introduce new challenges, particularly with regard 
to savings rates. The Board notes that these issues 
would be common across financial services. 

Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Society is unable to make 
available sufficient resources to meet its current or 
future financial obligations as they fall due or is only able 
to at a premium cost. This risk also includes the risk the 
Society attracts excessive liquidity through poor product 
management, acting as a drag on  
financial performance. 

The Society’s liquidity policy is to maintain sufficient 
liquid resources to cover cash flow imbalances and 
fluctuations in funding in order to retain full public 
confidence in the solvency of the Society and to enable 
the Society to meet its financial obligations. This is 
achieved through maintaining an adequate level and 
quality of liquid assets, through wholesale funding and 
through management control of the growth of  
the business. 

The Society relies on its access to sources of funding 
to finance the origination of new business and working 
capital. If access to funding became restricted, 
either through market movements or regulatory or 
government action, this might result in the scaling back 
or cessation of new lending. 

The Society, through its Finance and Treasury team 
(overseen by ALCO), seeks to mitigate this risk by 
managing the Society’s portfolio of liquid assets to 
maintain assets in liquid form in such proportion and 
composition (as determined by ALCO) as will at all times 
enable it to meet its liabilities as they arise (including 
any unexpected adverse cash flow). 

The Society monitors its overall liquidity with reference 
to limits set by regulation and also internal limits set 
by the Board through the Treasury and Prudential Risk 
Management Policy. To further assess the Society’s 
exposure to liquidity risk, a series of liquidity stress tests 
have been designed with the results reported to ALCO. 
The stress test scenarios developed evaluate the impact 
of idiosyncratic, market wide and combination stresses 
on the Society’s liquid assets.

Operational Risk 
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from failed 
or inadequate internal processes or systems, human 
error or other external factors. The risk is managed by 
the departmental Managers of the Society – the ‘Risk 
Owners’ - who have responsibility for putting in place 
appropriate controls for their business area. A monthly 
report to the Board sets out key risk metrics. In order to 
ensure sufficient capital to cover these operational risks, 
the Society also maintains a range of insurance policies 
to cover eventualities such as business interruption.
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To monitor its operational risks, the Society records 
all its risks and quantifies these through risk likelihood 
and impact, together with a reduction in impact from 
application of the controls assigned to each risk to 
establish residual risk. The Society has a Business 
Continuity Plan which is kept under regular review and 
is designed to ensure that any breakdown in systems 
would not cause significant business disruption.  
There were no material risk events during 2020/21 
(2019/20: none). 

Regulatory Risk 
This is the risk to the business, through financial loss 
or reputational damage that arises from a lack of 
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. 

The Society monitors such risks via its second line 
Compliance team and through both its Risk Committee 
and Audit and Compliance Committee  
with comprehensive reporting and assessment  
of Regulatory Risk.

Conduct Risk 
This risk can arise when a firm’s actions or behaviours 
result in inappropriate or poor outcomes for customers. 
The Society has a customer-focused culture that is in 
line with the principle of an organisation which is owned 
by its members. 

Conduct Risk is assessed and monitored through the 
Society’s Risk Committee structure, including via its 
Operational & Conduct Risk Committee which considers 
the Society’s key customer interactions and metrics. 
The Society has a simple product range that aims to 
reduce potential exposure to conduct risk. All staff who 
engage with customers receive appropriate training in 
accordance with the relevant Training and Competency 
Scheme to ensure customers are treated fairly.

IT Security Risk 
Cyber-crime and the security of information held by the 
Society are a constant risk. The Society acknowledges 
the risk of a disruption caused by a successful cyber-
attack on core IT systems, which may result in the loss 
or inappropriate use of data or sensitive information. 
The Society’s core systems are dependent upon the 
continuing availability and resilience of the managed 
service that is provided by Unisys Ltd. 

The Society works closely with Unisys Ltd and regular 
assurance activities are undertaken on third-party IT 
Governance and Controls. The Society has already 
invested heavily and continues to invest in new 
technologies to ensure the confidentiality, availability 
and integrity of Society data.

Other matters 

Creditor Payment Policy 
The Society’s continuing policy concerning the payment 
of its trade creditors is to pay within the agreed terms of 
credit, once the supplier has discharged its contractual 
obligations. Trade creditor days at 31 March 2021 
amounted to 7 days (2020: 16 days).

Donations 
During the year, charitable donations totalling £4,363 
(2020: £5,227) were made. There were no donations for 
political purposes. 

Employees 
The Society aims to attract and retain appropriately 
qualified and experienced employees to ensure its 
Corporate Plan can be delivered, as well as providing 
excellent customer service. 

The Society actively supports employees engaged 
in professional qualifications offering assistance with 
course and examination fees and providing paid 
periods for study and exam leave. The Society takes 
seriously the need for all of our employees to be aware 
of Regulations to which we are subject, and all are 
required to attest to a number of the Society’s policies 
on an annual basis. 

Auditor 
During 2019 the Society tendered for external audit 
services resulting in the appointment of PwC LLP. 
The process was led by the Audit Committee who 
recommended the appointment to the Board.  
The Board is recommending that PwC LLP are re-
appointed as external auditors of the Society for the 
2021/22 year-end. A resolution for their appointment 
will be proposed to the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting of the Society.
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Going Concern 
The Directors are required to consider whether the 
Society will continue as a going concern for a period of 
not less than twelve months from the date of signing the 
accounts. In making the assessment, the Directors have 
reviewed the Society’s corporate plan and considered 
risks that could impact on the Society’s capital position, 
financial position and liquidity over that period. The 
Directors have also prepared forecasts to consider 
the effect on the Society’s business, financial position, 
capital and liquidity of operating under stressed, but 
plausible, operating conditions. A range of sensitivities 
have also been applied to these forecasts, including 
stress scenarios relating to COVID-19. Having reviewed 
these forecasts alongside the Society’s ICAAP and ILAAP 
documents the Directors are satisfied that the Society 
has adequate resources to continue in business for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the accounts continue 
to be prepared on a going concern basis. 

In reaching this conclusion the Directors also 
determined that this statement does not represent a 
guarantee as to the Society’s ability to continue as a 
going concern indefinitely because it is not possible to 
predict all future events or conditions. Specifically, it is 
difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications on 
the Society’s trade, customers, suppliers and the wider 
economy arising from the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. 

Events since the year end 
The Directors continue to monitor the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic and recognise the detrimental 
impact on the economy further lockdowns would 
generate. Otherwise the Directors consider there has 
been no other event since the end of the financial  
year which would have a material effect on the  
financial position of the Society as disclosed in the 
Annual Accounts. 

Pillar III disclosures 
The Society is required to set out its capital position, risk 
exposures and risk assessment processes in its Pillar III 
disclosure document. This document is published on the 
Society’s website www.dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

Claire Hyde  
Society Secretary  
20 May 2021
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Corporate Governance Report
for the year ended 31 March 2021 

Chairman’s Statement 

The UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 (“the Code”) 
places emphasis on relationships between companies, 
shareholders and stakeholders. It promotes the 
importance of establishing a corporate culture that 
is aligned with company purpose, business strategy, 
promotes integrity and values diversity. 

Although the UK Code is primarily aimed at listed 
companies, the Board is committed to operating in line 
with best practice standards of corporate governance. 
For this reason, and to meet the expectations of the 
Society’s Members and other stakeholders, the Board 
chooses to have regard for the Code in so far as 
possible and relevant to building societies, and to the 
extent deemed reasonable and appropriate when 
establishing and reviewing corporate governance 
arrangements. 

As your Chairman, I am extremely proud to lead a 
Board that is committed to the highest standards of 
corporate governance. We have invested significantly 
in all aspects of governance and I hope that this report 
gives you insight as to how your Board ensures that 
your Society is sustainable well into the future. Having 
an effective Board has resulted in the strength of 
performance we can see today in your Society. 

This report takes each principle of the Code and 
explains, in turn, how your Board has applied them. 

Section 1: Board Leadership  
and Company Purpose 

Principle A – 
A successful company is led by an effective and 
entrepreneurial board, whose role is to promote the 
long-term sustainable success of the company, 
generating value for shareholders and contributing to 
wider society.

The Board’s role is to promote the success of the Society 
for the benefit of its current and future generations 
of members, therefore promoting long-term success 
and sustainability. This is achieved by determining 
the Society’s strategy, enterprise risk management 
framework and appropriate policies – as well as 
overseeing their implementation – and ensuring that the 
Society operates within rules and guidance issued by 
regulatory authorities, all applicable laws, Rules and  
risk appetite. 

The Board holds five key responsibilities: Strategy, 
Performance Management, Risk Management, 
Governance and People and Culture. These 
responsibilities form the agenda for each Board Meeting 

to ensure adequate time is devoted to each topic.  
The Board ensures that compliance with regulatory and 
statutory requirements is met and that financial controls 
and systems are effective. 

The effectiveness of how the Board discharges these 
responsibilities is assessed internally on an annual basis 
and externally by an experienced third-party every three 
years, or when the Board deems necessary. The latest 
external Board Effectiveness Review was conducted 
by an independent party - Clare Chalmers Ltd - and 
took place in January 2021. The Board considers the 
recommendations and acts on any that are deemed 
appropriate to improve the Board’s effectiveness to 
align with best practice. The Board’s effectiveness is 
also demonstrated by the Society’s performance in 
an environment where appropriate and constructive 
challenge is encouraged. 

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the Board 
meets at least ten times each year, together with a 
specific Strategy Day in which the Society’s overarching 
principles of strategic intent are discussed, debated 
and consolidated. The events of the Strategy Day inform 
the Board-approved Corporate Plan which sets risk 
appetite, includes lending and funding plans and details 
a series of key strategic initiatives to ensure long-term 
sustainability. 

In ensuring that the Society’s business model is 
sustainable, the Board has identified several factors 
as key challenges. Post-Brexit market uncertainty has 
been compounded by the impact of the pandemic 
and changes in the competitive landscape, while 
technological advancements continue at pace and 
global issues such as climate change become  
more prominent. 

The Board has ensured that the Society’s strategy will 
mitigate these risks by optimising its capital position, 
focusing on system modernisation and the customer 
experience and continuing to develop and offer 
propositions to underserved markets. Significant focus 
will be placed on developing capability and specialist 
expertise to achieve these objectives whilst ensuring an 
appropriate risk and control framework is in place. 

To fund this activity, the Society will continue to seek 
retail funding as its predominant source of funds, 
extending its offering to a variety of different channels to 
suit customer needs. 

As a mutual organisation, the Board understands 
generating value and contributing to the wider society 
goes far beyond the Society’s financial statements. 
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The Board recognises that long-term value is created 
through deploying effective people. The Society 
believes strongly in investing in its people and providing 
opportunities for all to develop in order to attract and 
retain the appropriate talent to deliver the  
Society’s strategy. 

The Society launched its “Giving Back” community 
initiative in June 2020 focusing on carbon neutrality, 
employee volunteering and promoting financial 
wellbeing and fraud awareness campaigns. In addition 
to its Board-approved Corporate Social Responsibility 
Approach, the topic of climate change has also been 
reflected in the Society’s strategic initiatives. 

Principle B – 
The board should establish the company’s purpose, 
values and strategy, and satisfy itself that these and 
its culture are aligned. All directors must act with 
integrity, lead by example and promote the desired 
culture. 
The Chairman is responsible for leading the 
development of the Society’s culture, facilitating and 
encouraging effective contribution and challenge 
from Directors and maintaining constructive relations 
between Non-Executive and Executive Directors. As one 
of the Board’s key responsibilities, culture is embedded 
throughout the Society via a “top-down” approach and 
is reflected in the Society’s purpose, vision and values to 
ensure alignment with - and to deliver - a sustainable 
long-term strategy. 

The Board has considered the purpose of the Society 
outside of its statutory definition and has determined 
that its purpose is “to find solutions where others can’t”. 
The Society is committed to delivering impeccable 
customer service, promoting transparency and ensuring 
decisions are made in the best interests of its members. 
As part of its strategy, the Society has identified a 
number of underserved markets and is dedicated 
to finding solutions which cater for a broad range of 
borrowers and savers. 

The Society’s values are reflective of its culture: member 
focused – ensuring members needs are at the heart 
of decision-making and strategic initiatives; future 
facing – ensuring the Society continues to innovate to 
meet ever-increasing customer needs; passionate – in 
its approach to offering exceptional customer service; 
and specialist – in respect of ensuring approaches are 
trusted and respected. 

Principle C – 
The board should ensure that the necessary resources 
are in place for the company to meet its objectives 
and measure performance against them. The board 
should also establish a framework of prudent and 
effective controls, which enable risk to be assessed 
and managed. 
To support delivery of the Society’s strategy several key 
strategic initiatives have been devised; these initiatives 
are used to deliver the annual Corporate Plan. A series 
of business objectives are developed to measure and 
monitor performance of the plan and to ensure that the 
Society has sufficient resources to enable the Executive 
Team and Senior Management Team to deliver 
objectives and goals. 

Resources such as management information, reports, 
policies and processes enable the Board to execute 
its responsibilities in respect of performance and risk 
management oversight. This is achieved through an 
established robust corporate governance framework 
in which the Board can delegate certain matters to 
Board Sub-Committees and Executive Committees 
– each with Board-approved Terms of Reference – 
which permits information to be escalated and / or 
cascaded to the appropriate forum. Reports detailing 
the effectiveness of controls as well as emerging risks 
and considerations are escalated to the Board Risk 
Committee and Board.
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Board Committees 

Audit and Compliance Committee 
The Committee’s principal function is to ensure that 
the interests of the Society’s members are protected in 
relation to financial reporting and internal controls.  
The Committee considers financial controls and 
reporting, internal and external audit arrangements 
and maintains oversight of the Society’s second line of 
defence. The Committee meets at least four times each 
year. Every three years, the Committee carries out a full 
review of internal and external audit provision. 

Committee membership comprises four Non-Executive 
Directors: Nicole Coll (Chair), Paul Doona, Zamir 
Chaudhry and Tariq Khatri. The Executive Directors 
are not members of the Committee but, together with 
representatives from the Society’s Internal and External 
Auditors, the Chairman and the Chief Risk Officer, attend 
by invitation. It is a requirement for at least one member 
of the Committee to have recent and relevant financial 
experience. 

Full details of the work of this Committee can be found in 
the Audit and Compliance Committee Report on  
page 33. 

Board Risk Committee 
The principal function of the Committee is to assist the 
Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for risk 
management across the Society. This is achieved by 
providing oversight of the development, implementation, 
embedment and continual improvement of the Society’s 
Enterprise Risk Management Framework. The Framework 
covers prudential, operational, regulatory, systemic 

and strategic risk to ensure there is a comprehensive 
understanding of the risks confronting the Society both 
in terms of its current and future strategic thinking and 
its daily operational management. 

The Board Risk Committee’s main responsibilities are as 
follows: 

• to provide oversight of the Society’s risk profile and 
its operation within Board-approved risk appetite, 
considering risk matters and emerging risks identified 
and escalated from other Committees and escalating, 
where necessary, to the Board; 

• to provide oversight of, and challenge to, the risk 
management and oversight arrangements of the 
Executive Team and Senior Management Team to 
promote and maintain a supportive risk culture; 

• to oversee the activities of the Assets and Liabilities 
Committee, Credit Risk Committee and Operational 
and Conduct Risk Committee; and 

• ensure adequate capital and liquidity resources are 
maintained to ensure regulatory compliance and 
achievement of the Corporate Plan. 

The Committee also reviews reports from the Chief Risk 
Officer which provide an assessment of the key issues, 
risks and emerging risks within the Society. 

Committee membership comprises four Non-Executive 
Directors: Zamir Chaudhry (Chair), Paul Doona, Nicole 
Coll and Tariq Khatri. The Executive Directors are not 
members of the Committee but, together with the 
Chairman and the Chief Risk Officer, attend by invitation. 
The Committee meets at least four times each year. 

The Society’s Committee Structure 

Audit & Compliance 
Committee
(Nicole Coll)

Board
(Peter Hubbard)

Board Risk
Committee

(Zamir Chaudhry)

Nomination
Committee

(Peter Hubbard)

Remuneration
Committee
(Tariq Katri)

Assets & Liabilities
Committee

(Jeremy Wood)

Executive 
Committee

(Jeremy Wood)

Proposition 
Committee

(Lorraine Breese-Price)

Credit Risk
Committee

(Samantha Ward)

Operational & Conduct 
Risk Committee

(Oliver Slimm)

Board Committee

Executive Committee

The name in brackets is the Chair of each Committee as at 31 March 2021. 
Each Committee has a dotted line report into the Board Risk Committee
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Nomination Committee 
The Committee has a number of responsibilities relating 
to the structure, skillset, composition and effectiveness 
of the Board and its committees as well as reviewing 
succession planning for both Non-Executive and 
Executive Directors. The Committee regularly reviews the 
structure, size and composition of the Board, evaluating 
skills, knowledge and experience and, when required, 
nominating candidates (for election or re-election) to 
fill Board vacancies. When making recommendations, 
the Committee has due regard for the benefits of 
inclusion, equality and diversity. To discharge the Board’s 
responsibilities in respect of the Senior Managers 
and Certification Regime, the Committee reviews an 
assessment of the continued fitness and propriety of 
Senior Management Function (SMF) holders together 
with the Society’s Responsibilities Map and recommends, 
when required, changes to the Board. 

Committee membership comprises all Non-Executive 
and Executive Directors. Peter Hubbard – as Society 
Chairman – is also Chair of the Committee.  
The Chairman does not take part in confirming  
his re-appointment. 

Remuneration Committee 
The Committee meets at least twice each year and is 
responsible for setting the over-arching principles of the 
Society’s remuneration policy such that they support 
the long-term success of the Society and attract, retain 
and motivate Directors and Senior Management of 
the quality required to achieve strategic initiatives and 
business objectives. 

Committee membership comprises all Non-Executive 
Directors. Tariq Khatri is Chair of the Committee. 

Full details of the work of this Committee can be found in 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 36. 

Executive Committees 

Assets and Liabilities Committee 
The principal function of the Committee is to manage 
the structure of the Society’s assets and liabilities; 
it has specific responsibilities in respect of liquidity 
and funding management, counterparty credit risk 
management, interest rate risk management and 
capital management. 

The Committee meets at least ten times each year; 
matters raised are escalated to the Board Risk 
Committee. Membership comprises the Executive 
Directors alongside the Head of Planning, Information 
and Prudential and the Products and Mortgage Systems 
Manager, with the Society’s Chief Risk Officer also in 
attendance. The CEO (Jeremy Wood) is Chair.

Credit Risk Committee 
The principal function of the Committee is to manage 
the operation of the Society’s lending strategy and 
policies – ensuring that proper consideration is given 
to credit risk control and regulatory requirements. 
The Committee monitors the quality and profile of 
its mortgage portfolio in accordance with regulatory 
lending limits and conducts regular stress and  
scenario tests to identify and manage potential  
credit risk exposures. 

The Committee meets at least ten times each year; 
matters raised are escalated to the Board Risk 
Committee. Membership comprises the Executive 
Directors alongside the Head of Credit Risk and 
Underwriting and the Head of Operations, with the 
Society’s Chief Risk Officer also in attendance.  
The Commercial Director (Samantha Ward) is Chair.

Executive Committee 
The principal function of the Committee is to implement 
and deliver the Board-approved Strategy and Corporate 
Plan in accordance with the Society’s purpose, vision 
and values. The Executive Committee oversees the 
day to day operations of the Society’s business with 
focus on topics relating to performance, change, cost 
management and people, as well as reviewing matters 
which are to be presented to the Board. 

The Committee meets at least once each month; 
matters raised are escalated to the Board and Board 
Risk Committee. Membership comprises the Executive 
Directors and the Senior Management Team. The CEO 
(Jeremy Wood) is Chair.

Operational and Conduct Risk Committee 
The principal function of the Committee is to manage 
and oversee the identification, impact and mitigation of 
operational risks and conduct risks to ensure the Society 
continues to have robust controls, processes and 
systems in place and operates a framework that  
is adequately focused on the delivery of fair  
customer outcomes. 

The Committee meets at least five times each 
year; matters raised are escalated to the Board 
Risk Committee. Membership comprises the CEO, 
the Commercial Director, the Head of Compliance 
and Financial Crime, the Head of Credit Risk and 
Underwriting, the Head of IT and Information Security, 
the Head of Operations, the People Experience and 
Organisational Development Manager and the Products 
and Mortgage Systems Manager, with the Society’s Chief 
Risk Officer also in attendance. The Head of Credit Risk 
and Underwriting (Oliver Slimm) is Chair.
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Proposition Committee 
The principal function of the Committee is to oversee 
the Society’s product-related performance – with 
particular focus on margin management - against its 
current proposition, product and pricing strategy, and 
to consider key drivers such as competitor analysis and 
market data to determine any required changes. 

The Committee meets at least ten times each 
year; matters raised are escalated to the Executive 
Committee and Board. Membership comprises the 
Executive Directors alongside the Head of Compliance 
and Financial Crime, the Head of Credit Risk and 
Underwriting, the Head of Operations, the Head of 
Planning, Information and Prudential and the Products 
and Mortgage Systems Manager, with the Society’s Chief 
Risk Officer also in attendance. The Head of Operations 
(Lorraine Breese-Price) is Chair.

General Board and Committee Matters 
Minutes are the responsibility of the Society Secretary 
(Claire Hyde) and are taken by her or a nominated 
representative for all Board and Executive Committees. 
Minutes are reviewed by the relevant Committee / Board 
and are approved on the basis of accuracy. 

Board and Committee Terms of Reference can 
be obtained from the Society Secretary and are 
also available on the Society’s website. Terms of 
Reference are reviewed at least annually to ensure all 
responsibilities remain aligned to the Society’s strategy 
and regulatory and legislative requirements. 

Principle D –  
In order for the company to meet its responsibilities 
to shareholders and stakeholders, the board should 
ensure effective engagement with, and encourage 
participation from, these parties. 

As a mutual organisation, the Society is owned by 
its members who are also the Society’s customers. 
Engagement and communication with members is 
achieved through regular newsletters, social media 
activity and surveys – particularly Smart Money People 
– in which members are encouraged to leave feedback. 
The feedback is shared with employees and is regularly 
reviewed by the Senior Management Team to better 
understand the needs of our members and to identify 
service improvements. 

Each year, details of the Society’s Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) are sent to members who are eligible 
to vote, alongside the Society’s Member Review. 
The Member Review includes statements from the 
Chairman and CEO, outlines the Society’s activity in the 
community and addresses topical issues such as fraud 
and financial awareness. Members are encouraged to 
use their vote and the Society provides both online and 
postal voting options for ease. A donation to charity is 
made for each vote cast.

Annual General Meeting Results –July 2020 Resolutions 
1. To receive the Directors’  

Report, Annual Accounts  
and Annual Business Statement

2. To appoint 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
(PwC) as Auditors

3. To approve the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report

4a. To elect Nicole Coll (NED)

4b. To elect Peter John Hubbard (NED)

5a. To elect Samantha Ann Ward (ED)

6a. To re-elect Zamir Ahmad Chaudhry
 (NED) Statement

6b. To re-elect Paul Ernest Doona (NED)

6c. To re-elect Tariq Khatri (NED)

6d. To re-elect Jeremy Robin Wood (ED)
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The Board is committed to maintaining and promoting 
an honest, open and transparent relationship with its 
internal and external auditors and the regulator. This 
is achieved by submitting and disclosing all required 
and requested information within the timeframes 
allocated as well as ensuring all parties are informed 
of developments in respect of succession planning, 
compliance and any recommendations made to the 
Society as part of routine audits. 

Engagement and communication with the Society’s 
employees is of utmost importance as the effects of 
the pandemic continue to be felt. In addition to weekly 
newsletters and regular employee engagement surveys, 
members of the Board have held virtual ‘Question 
and Answer’ and ‘Getting to Know You’ sessions with 
employees to discuss their background, experiences 
within the financial services industry and the  
Society’s activities.

Principle E –  
The Board should ensure workforce policies and 
practices are consistent with the company’s values 
and support its long-term sustainable success.  
The workforce should be able to raise any matters  
of concern. 
Through its governance structure the Board approves 
employee-related policy documents relating to 
performance management, remuneration and 
whistleblowing and anti-bribery and corruption to 
ensure they remain consistent with the Society’s values. 
The Society promotes a culture which encourages 
employees to raise matters of concern and provide 
feedback in respect of the Society’s operations. This 
Society has a grievance policy and also circulates 
regular employee engagement surveys in which 
feedback is anonymous. Survey results are reviewed  
and discussed by the Senior Management Team  
and the Board. 

Employee well-being is a key focus. A number of 
employees are Mental Health First Aiders and external 
counselling supported by the Society is also available. 
The Society promotes physical and mental well-being 
campaigns focusing on healthy-eating, fitness and 
– during the pandemic – creativity such as baking, 
drawing and learning a new language. 

The Society’s Whistleblowing and Anti-Bribery and 
Corruption Policy ensures employees can confidentially 
raise concerns without fear of victimisation to the 
Whistleblowers’ Champion. Employees are able to report 
to alternate line managers, members of the Senior 
Management Team and Non-Executive Directors in the 
event that a concern could cause a conflict of interest. 

Section 2: Division of Responsibilities 

Principle F –  
The chair leads the board and is responsible for its 
overall effectiveness in directing the company. They 
should demonstrate objective judgement throughout 
their tenure and promote a culture of openness and 
debate. In addition, the chair facilitates constructive 
board relations and the effective contribution of all 
non-executive directors, and ensures that directors 
receive accurate, timely and clear information. 

The Chairman sets the direction of the Board and 
promotes a culture of openness and debate by 
facilitating and encouraging effective contribution and 
challenge from Directors. The Chairman is responsible 
for maintaining constructive relations between Executive 
and Non-Executive Directors and ensures Directors 
receive accurate, timely and clear advice  
and information. 

The Society’s Chairman, Peter Hubbard, was appointed 
as an independent Non-Executive Director and Chair 
Designate on 16 January 2020 and was elected by the 
other members of the Board to become Chairman on 16 
July 2020. The Board has satisfied itself, both at the time 
of appointment and currently, that the Chairman meets 
the criteria set out in the Code.

Principle G –  
The board should include an appropriate combination 
of executive and non-executive (and, in particular, 
independent non-executive) directors, such that no 
one individual or small group of individuals dominates 
the board’s decision-making. There should be a clear 
division of responsibilities between the leadership 
of the board and the executive leadership of the 
company’s business. 

The offices of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
are entirely separate. The Chairman is responsible for 
leading the Board and the Chief Executive Officer leads 
the Society in an efficient and effective manner to 
achieve the objectives set by the Board. 

The current Board consists of five Non-Executive 
Directors – all of whom have been assessed and 
considered independent in character and judgement 
– and three Executive Directors. All Directors provide a 
wide range of skills and experience to cover all areas 
of the business. The Chairman promotes a culture of 
effective and constructive contribution and challenge, 
ensuring all Directors have the opportunity to contribute 
to Board discussions and decisions.
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Principle H –  
Non-executive directors should have sufficient time to 
meet their board responsibilities. They should provide 
constructive challenge, strategic guidance, offer 
specialist advice and hold management to account. 

As part of the Non-Executive Director recruitment 
process, the Board takes into consideration a potential 
candidate’s background, skills and expertise to ensure 
they can provide constructive challenge and an 
appropriate level of support to the Executive Directors 
and Senior Management Team. 
A full account of other commitments and demands is 
also required to be fully disclosed and the Nomination 
Committee is responsible for evaluating whether a 
potential candidate is able to commit the time required 
for the role. Following an appointment, any additional 
external appointments must be disclosed and approved 
by the Board. Executives cannot be appointed to the 
Board of any other organisation without the approval of 
the Society’s Board. 

As part of the appraisal process, the Chairman will 
assess the time commitment made by each Non-
Executive Director. The attendance record of each 
Director is set out in this Report on page 32. 

At least once a year, the Non-Executive Directors 
meet without the Executives present to discuss the 
performance of the Executive Team against the Society’s 
Corporate Plan and agreed performance objectives. 

Principle I –  
The board, supported by the company secretary, 
should ensure that it has the policies, processes, 
information, time and resources it needs to order to 
function effectively and efficiently. 

The Society Secretary provides support and guidance 
to Directors on corporate governance arrangements. 
All Board members have access to independent 
advice if required in order to effectively discharge their 
responsibilities as Directors. The Board can access 
papers, minutes, management information, policies and 
training material via the Society’s Board Portal. 

Minutes are the responsibility of the Society Secretary 
and are taken by her or a nominated representative for 
all Board and Committee meetings. 

Members of the Board and each Board Committee 
are responsible for evaluating the effectiveness 
of management information and for suggesting 
improvements to the Executive Directors and Senior 
Management Team to ensure information provides 
sufficient oversight of business activities, enables 
effective decision-making and allows Board and Board 
Committee members to effectively discharge their 
responsibilities. 

The Chairman, in consultation with the Executive 
Directors, provides a formal induction for Non-Executive 
Directors tailored to their needs. 

The Chairman ensures that Non-Executive Directors 
continually update their skills and knowledge to fulfil 
their role on the Board and any Board Committees. 
Training and development needs are identified as 
part of the annual appraisal process and are routinely 
reviewed and discussed by the Nomination Committee. 
Board members are encouraged to attend industry 
seminars and conferences and the Society Secretary 
is responsible for scheduling and arranging Board 
Training Days. During 2020/21 Board Training Days 
covered assets and liabilities management, risk 
management and cyber-awareness.
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Section 3: Composition, Succession  
and Evaluation 

Principle J –  
Appointments to the board should be subject to a 
formal, rigorous and transparent procedure, and an 
effective succession plan should be maintained for 
board and senior management. Both appointments 
and succession plans should be based on merit and 
objective criteria and, within this context should 
promote diversity of gender, social and ethnic 
backgrounds, cognitive and personal strengths. 

The Nomination Committee leads the process for 
appointments and is responsible for succession 
planning. The Society maintains an Equality and Diversity 
Policy and the Board recognises the importance of 
promoting a culture of inclusion, equality and diversity. 

All Board members contribute to a skills matrix which 
comprises a subjective and objective assessment of 
Directors’ skills in subject matter areas which support 
the delivery of the Society’s strategy and corporate plan. 
The skills matrix provides a holistic view of the Board’s 
strengths and capabilities and is considered during 
the appointment and succession planning process 
to ensure candidates complement and enhance the 
Board’s composition. 

The procedure for appointing Non-Executive Directors 
to the Board includes preparing a job specification, 
advertising the role and an interview with the 
Chairman and other Board members. During 2020/21 
an independent, executive recruitment consultant – 
Thorburn McAlister - was engaged to source suitable 
Non-Executive Director candidates. First and second 
interviews were conducted by the Chairman,  
Chief Executive and the Senior Independent  
Director Designate. 

The Society’s Non-Executive Directors are recruited from 
a wide range of backgrounds to bring the necessary 
skills and experience to the Board in order to monitor 
and challenge the performance of the Society, whilst 
providing effective support to the Executive Directors 
and Senior Management Team. Appointments are 
based on merit and consider background, skillset, 
experience and competency. The Board as a whole 
makes the final decision on appointments. 

Each Director appointed must obtain the necessary 
regulatory approval and meet the fitness and propriety 
standards required by the Financial Conduct Authority in 
order to fulfil their role. Following appointment, a formal 
induction and relevant documents about the Society 
are provided. 

Principle K –  
The board and its committees should have a 
combination of skills, experience and knowledge. 
Consideration should be given to the length of service  
of the board as a whole and membership  
regularly refreshed. 

In accordance with the Society’s Rules all Directors are 
required to submit themselves for election at the Annual 
General Meeting following their appointment. All other 
Directors must seek re-election annually, with members 
being provided with sufficient biographical detail and 
other relevant information in order to take an informed 
decision on their election. The Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman are elected annually by the Board following 
the conclusion of the AGM. 

The Board’s current policy is that Non-Executive Directors 
should not normally serve for more than nine years. In 
June 2021, Paul Doona will have served nine years on 
the Society’s Board. To ensure a smooth transition and 
handover to his successor, Paul has agreed to remain 
on the Board until the conclusion of the 2021 AGM. 

The Nomination Committee considers whether Board 
members are independent in character and judgement 
and are able to commit sufficient time to their role. 
The Board skills matrix is considered to ensure an 
appropriate combination of skills, experience and 
knowledge can be demonstrated at Board and Board 
Committee meetings. 

Principle L –  
Annual evaluation of the board should consider its 
composition, diversity and how effectively members 
work together to achieve objectives. Individual 
evaluation should demonstrate whether each director 
continues to contribute effectively. 

The Nomination Committee routinely reviews iterations 
of the Board Composition Report – a real-time report 
in which a key component is the Board Skills Matrix. 
The skills matrix comprises a subjective and objective 
assessment of Directors’ capabilities in subject matter 
areas which support the delivery of the Society’s 
strategy and corporate plan. This ensures that Board 
Committees comprise of appropriate skillsets to 
promote effective contribution, challenge and decision-
making. The Board Composition Report also contains 
a diversity report which considers gender, age and 
ethnicity. The Society maintains an Equality and Diversity 
Policy and the Board recognises the importance of 
promoting a culture of inclusion, equality and diversity. 

At least once a year, the Non-Executive Directors meet 
without the Executive Directors present to discuss the 
performance of the Executive Team against the Society’s 
Corporate Plan and agreed performance objectives. 
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The performance of the Chairman is appraised annually 
by the Senior Independent Director, taking into account 
views of the Non-Executive and Executive Directors. 

All Non-Executive Directors and the Chief Executive 
Officer are subject to semi-annual performance reviews 
conducted by the Chairman. The Chief Executive Officer 
conducts appraisals for the Finance Director and 
Commercial Director in accordance with the Society’s 
Performance Management Policy. 

The effectiveness of how the Board discharges these 
responsibilities is assessed internally on an annual basis 
and externally by an experienced third-party every three 
years, or when the Board deems necessary. The latest 
external Board Effectiveness Review was conducted 
by an independent party - Clare Chalmers Ltd - and 
took place in January 2021. The Board’s effectiveness 
is also demonstrated by the Society’s performance in 
an environment where appropriate and constructive 
challenge is encouraged. 

Section 4: Audit, Risk and Internal Control 

Principle M –  
The board should establish formal and transparent 
policies and procedures to ensure the independence 
and effectiveness of internal and external audit 
functions and satisfy itself on the integrity of financial 
and narrative statements. 

The Audit and Compliance Committee is a Board 
Committee made up of independent Non-Executive 
Directors. Meetings are attended by the Chairman, 
Executive Directors, the Chief Risk Officer, the Head 
of Compliance and Financial Crime, the Financial 
Controller and representatives from Internal and External 
Audit. The Committee has expertise related to the 
sector and at least one of the members has recent and 
relevant financial and risk management experience. 
Annually, the Internal and External Auditors meet with 
the Non-Executive Directors without the presence of the 
Executive Directors. 

The responsibilities, membership and frequency of 
meetings of the Committee are set out on page 25. 

The Audit and Compliance Committee Report on 
page 33 explains how the Committee discharges its 
responsibilities in respect of financial and internal 
controls and reporting and maintaining the  
relationship between the Society and its internal  
and external auditors. 

Principle N –  
The board should present a fair, balanced and 
understandable assessment of the company’s position 
and prospects. 

The responsibilities of the Directors in relation to the 
preparation of the accounts can be found on page 
38, and the statement that the Society’s accounts are 
prepared on the going concern basis can be found on 
page 35. 

The Board is of the opinion that the annual report and 
accounts present a fair, balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Society’s position and provides 
the necessary information for members to assess the 
Society’s performance, strategy and business model.

Principle O –  
The board should establish procedures to manage 
risk, oversee the internal control framework, and 
determine the nature and extent of the principle risks 
the company is willing to take in order to achieve its 
long-term strategic objectives. 

The Board is responsible for determining strategies for 
risk management and internal control as described in 
the Society’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework as 
well as identifying the principal risks that could threaten 
the Society’s performance, strategy and sustainability 
The Executive Directors and Senior Management Team 
are responsible for designing, operating and monitoring 
risk management systems and controls. 

The Society has a second line risk team – headed by 
the Chief Risk Officer – which provides challenge and 
oversight of first line risk management activity. 

The Board Risk Committee assesses the adequacy of 
these processes and reports to the Board. Each Board 
Committee is responsible for the risk and controls within 
its remit. Key risk information is escalated to the Board 
Risk Committee via the Society’s Governance Structure 
detailed on page 25. The responsibilities, membership 
and frequency of meetings of the Committee are set 
out on page 25. 

The Society’s internal auditors provide independent and 
objective assurance that the systems are appropriate 
and controls effectively applied. 

The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the risk 
management systems and controls and concluded that 
the Society has a strong compliance culture and that 
systems are effective and appropriate to the scale and 
complexity of the business and to protect the interests 
of its members. 
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Section 5: Remuneration 

Principle P –  
Remuneration policies and practices should be 
designed to support strategy and promote long-
term sustainable success. Executive remuneration 
should be aligned to company purpose and values 
and be clearly linked to the successful delivery of the 
company’s long-term strategy. 

When setting remuneration, the Society’s objective 
is to ensure alignment with the Society’s strategy, 
corporate plan and risk appetite, by being consistent 
with the interests of the Society’s members. The 
Society’s remuneration policy is designed to reward 
Directors according to their expertise, experience and 
overall contribution to the successful performance 
of the Society. Remuneration for Executive Directors 
reflects responsibilities and roles within the Society. 
Remuneration is set at a level to retain and attract 
individuals of the calibre necessary to operate and  
meet the Society’s objectives. 

The Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 36 explains 
how the Society complies with the principles relating  
to remuneration. 

Principle Q –  
A formal and transparent procedure for developing 
policy on executive remuneration and determining 
director and senior management remuneration should 
be established. No director should be involved in 
deciding their own remuneration outcome. 

The Remuneration Committee, membership of which is 
provided on page 26, reviews the Society’s remuneration 
policy at least annually. No Director is involved in setting 
their own remuneration. 

The Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 36 
explains how the Society complies with the principles 
relating to remuneration. 

Principle R –  
Directors should exercise independent judgement 
and discretion when authorising remuneration 
outcomes, taking account of company and individual 
performance, and wider circumstances. 

Basic salaries are reviewed annually by undertaking 
an external benchmarking exercise which compares 
salaries in similar organisations. The Executive Directors’ 
benefit package is designed to motivate decision- 
making in the interest of the Society’s members. 

As part of its approach to mitigate conduct risk exposure 
the Society does not award bonuses or incentives linked 
to sales performance or lead generation to any of its 
Directors or employees. 

Directors’ Attendance Record 

  
Board 

  
Audit & 

Compliance
  

Board Risk 
  

Remuneration 
  

Nomination
Non-Executive Directors 
Peter Hubbard 11 (11) 5 (5) A 10 (10) A 3 (3) 4 (4) 
Paul Doona 11 (11) 4 (5) 10 (10) 3 (3) 4 (4) 
Zamir Chaudhry 11 (11) 5 (5) 9 (10) 3 (3) 4 (4) 
Nicole Coll 11 (11) 5 (5) 10 (10) 3 (3) 4 (4) 
Tariq Khatri 11 (11) 5 (5) 10 (10) 3 (3) 4 (4) 
David Milner (Retired 16/07/2020) 3 (3) 1 (1) A - 1 (1) 1 (1) 
Executive Directors 
Jeremy Wood 11 (11) 5 (5) A 10 (10) A 3 (3) A 4 (4) 
Kieron Blackburn (Appointed 17/07/2020) 8 (8) 4 (4) A 8 (8) A 2 (2) A 3 (3) 
Samantha Ward 11 (11) 5 (5) A 10 (10) A 3 (3) A 3 (3) 
Darren Garner (Resigned 16/07/2020) 3 (3) 1 (1) A 2 (2) A 1 (1) A 1 (1) 
Key: A - Attendee

The number in brackets represents the total number of meetings held during 2020/21 that the Director was eligible to attend.
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Audit & Compliance Committee Report 

The Audit and Compliance Committee reports directly 
to the Board and is a key component of the Society’s 
governance framework and committee structure. Its 
principal function is to ensure that the interests of the 
Society’s members are protected in relation to financial 
reporting and internal controls. Responsibilities include 
oversight of financial controls and reporting, internal and 
external audit, and regulation and compliance.  
The Committee is authorised by the Board to: 

• Investigate any activity within its Terms of Reference; 

• Seek any information that it requires from any 
employee of the Society, for which purpose all 
employees are directed to co-operate with any 
request made by the Committee; and 

• Obtain external legal or independent professional 
advice at the Society’s expense. 

The Committee meets at least four times each year 
and comprises four Non-Executive Directors; Nicole 
Coll (Chair), Paul Doona, Zamir Chaudhry and Tariq 
Khatri. The Board is satisfied that at least one member 
of the Committee has recent and relevant financial 
experience. Other regular attendees at Committee 
meetings include the Executive Directors, the Chairman, 
the Chief Risk Officer, the Head of Compliance and 
Financial Crime and the Financial Controller along with 
representatives from the outsourced internal auditor 
RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP and the external auditor 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. 

At least once each year, the Non-Executive Directors 
meet with the Internal and External Auditors without the 
Executive Directors present. In addition, the Chief Risk 
Officer has direct access to the Chair of the Audit and 
Compliance Committee and will meet with the Chair at 
least annually without the Executive Directors present. 

The Committee approves the instruction of the internal 
and external auditors to carry out any non-audit 
assignments. Every three years the Committee carries 
out a full review of internal and external audit provision. 

Financial Controls and Reporting 
The main responsibilities of the Committee are to: 

• Review and challenge where necessary the actions 
and judgements of management, in relation to the 
Society’s financial statements, summary financial 
statement and the operating and financial statement 
and the operation and financial review before 
submission to – and approval by – the Board, and 
before clearance by the auditors. Particular attention 
is paid to: 

 – The integrity of the financial statements and any 
formal announcements relating to the Society’s 
financial performance; 

 – Critical accounting policies and practices; 

 – Decisions requiring significant elements of 
judgement; and 

 – Whether the financial statements taken are fair, 
balanced and understandable. 

System of Internal Control 
The Society has in place internal controls and an 
Enterprise Risk Management Framework to safeguard 
its members and the Society’s assets. The Committee 
is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness and 
appropriateness of these controls. 

The following aspects were reviewed by the Committee 
during the year:- 

• Control assurance reports authored by the second 
line of defence 

• Compliance monitoring results 

• Risk appetite reporting in respect of compliance, 
financial crime and legal risk appetite 

• The Society’s policies on:

 – Compliance Approach; 

 – Finance and Banking Operations; 

 – Financial Crime; 

 – Fitness and Propriety; 

 – General Data Protection; 

 – Gifts and Hospitality; 

 – Mortgage Impairment and Provisioning; 

 – Procurement and Outsourcing; 

 – Regulatory Reporting; and 

 – Whistleblowing and Anti-Bribery and Corruption. 

The Committee gave assurance to the Board that there 
were no material breaches of control or regulatory 
compliance during the year.
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Audit & Compliance Committee Report (cont) 

Internal Audit 
The Committee is responsible for monitoring and 
reviewing the independence and effectiveness of the 
Society’s internal audit function and the adequacy of 
resources. The Society has outsourced internal audit 
work to RSM Risk Assurance Services LLP. 

Prior to the start of each Corporate Year, the Committee 
approves the Internal Audit Plan. Interim Progress 
Reports alongside scheduled individual Internal Audit 
Reports are presented at each meeting for review, 
discussion and challenge. A report covering the annual 
audit cycle is presented following the conclusion of 
each Corporate Year. The report provides an opinion in 
respect of the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
the Society’s risk management, control environment and 
governance processes. 

During 2020/21, the internal audit plan covered the 
following areas: 

• Review of Mortgage Collections 

• E-Savings Pre-Implementation 

• Mortgage Underwriting and Processing 

• Mortgage Payment Deferrals 

• Secure Remote Working and Operational Resilience 

• Regulatory Returns 

• Risk Management Embeddedness 

The Committee is satisfied that internal audit had an 
appropriate level of resource in order to deliver its 
2020/21 plan and that it discharged its 
responsibilities effectively. 

External Audit 
The Committee, on behalf of the Board, conducts 
a thorough review of the provision of external 
audit services every three years. In October 2019, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP was appointed to cover 
the external audit provision for the Society. It is expected 
that the next review will take place in early 2022. The 
Committee evaluates and approves the scope and 
content of the external audit plan and approves the 
level of fees. It monitors the effectiveness, resources, 
competency and independence of the external auditor 
and is satisfied in these matters.

Regulation and Compliance 
The main responsibilities of the Committee are to: 

• Consider and report to the Board the effect of any 
statutory, regulatory or financial reporting changes, or 
corporate governance issues, which may affect the 
content and presentation of the Society’s accounts, its 
systems of control and any other matters relating to 
the direction of the Society; 

• Assess the adequacy of resource and skillset of those 
involved in independent compliance monitoring as 
well as instructing the compliance function to carry 
out specific review of any area of operations causing 
concern to the Committee; 

• Maintain oversight of actions that have been allocated 
to the first line of defence following a compliance or 
risk assessment conducted by the second line  
of defence; 

• Approve and monitor progress of the annual 
Combined Assurance Plan, taking into account the risk 
assessment of each area of the business; and 

• Review the Society’s policies and processes for 
detecting and preventing bribery, corruption  
and fraud.

During 2020/21, two management committees were 
established to provide the Audit and Compliance 
Committee with additional assurance in respect of 
regulatory matters. 

Regulatory Reporting Committee 
The Regulatory Reporting Committee oversees 
regulatory reporting and provides governance over 
judgements and assumptions utilised as part of the 
reporting process. The committee is chaired by the 
Finance Director who submits a semi-annual report 
to the Audit and Compliance Committee to ensure 
effective oversight of the internal control framework 
applied to regulatory reporting. 

Regulatory Review Committee 
The Regulatory Review Committee oversees the 
implementation of regulatory change across the Society 
by ensuring change is identified, impact assessed, 
implemented by the first line of defence and escalated 
to the appropriate committee for oversight. Updates are 
provided at each Audit and Compliance Committee via 
dedicated Management  
Information (MI). 

Audit and Compliance Committee Effectiveness 
In accordance with its Terms of Reference, the 
Committee regularly reviews its own performance, 
composition and responsibilities to ensure it is operating 
at maximum effectiveness. Any changes considered 
necessary are escalated to the Board for approval. 
During the 2020/21 Board Effectiveness Review, an Audit 
and Compliance Committee meeting was observed 
by external consultants Clare Chalmers Limited . 
Findings were presented to the Board in March 2021 and 
a subsequent meeting arranged for Board Members to 
consider each recommendation in turn and act on any 
that are deemed appropriate to improve the Board’s 
effectiveness to align with the best practices.
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Significant Judgements in relation to the  
Financial Statements 
The Committee examined and challenged the key 
assumptions and areas of judgement made in the 
preparation of the financial statements.  
These were principally:- 

Impairment losses on loans and advances to customers 

The Committee reviewed the amount of provision 
for impairment losses held by the Society. The 
Committee challenged the underlying assumptions 
and the economic scenarios, particularly in light of the 
continuing situation around COVID-19. This process 
included reviews of key input assumptions. These were: 

• Making use of Society data on historical loss 
experience, which has included development of credit 
models in  
the year; 

• Considering data on mortgage cases impacted by 
COVID-19 during the year; and 

• Considering movements in house price indices and 
the potential short term influence on these from the 
government stamp duty holiday initiative. 

The reviews also considered the results of stress tests 
under a range of economic scenarios as well as a 
benchmark against other relevant building societies.  
The Committee concluded that the amount of provision 
for impairment losses is appropriate. Further information 
on impairment losses is provided in Notes 1 and 14 to  
the Accounts. 

Effective Interest Rate (EIR) 

The Committee reviewed and approved the 
assumptions and methodology behind the model used 
to determine effective lives and EIR adjustments. 

Going Concern 
The Committee also reviewed and challenged 
management’s assessment of going concern, including 
consideration of the results from stress testing activities, 
including a range of COVID-19-related scenarios.  
Based on its review, the Committee concluded that the 
adoption of the going concern assumption to prepare 
the financial statements remains appropriate. 

These Financial Statements 
On behalf of the Board, the Audit and Compliance 
Committee has ensured that these financial statements 
present a fair, balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Society’s position and prospects.

Nicole Coll  
Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee  
20 May 2021
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Directors’ Remuneration Report 

The purpose of this report is to inform members about 
the Society’s policy on the remuneration of Non-
Executive and Executive Directors. The Society has 
adopted a Remuneration Policy which complies with the 
relevant elements of regulators’ remuneration codes 
and facilitates a formal and transparent procedure in 
respect of determining remuneration. 

The report also explains how the Society regards the 
principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
relating to remuneration. Section Five of the Code notes 
the following three principles in relation to remuneration: 

Principle P -  
Remuneration policies and practices should be 
designed to support strategy and promote long-
term sustainable success. Executive remuneration 
should be aligned to company purpose and values 
and be clearly linked to the successful delivery of the 
company’s long-term strategy. 

Principle Q -  
A formal and transparent procedure for developing 
policy on executive remuneration and determining 
Director and Senior Management remuneration should 
be established. No Director should be involved in 
deciding their own remuneration outcome. 

Principle R -  
Directors should exercise independent judgement 
and discretion when authorising remuneration 
outcomes, taking account of company and individual 
performance, and wider circumstances. 

Remuneration Committee 
The principal function of the Remuneration Committee 
is to set the over-arching principles, parameters and 
governance framework of the Society’s remuneration 
policy, principles and practices such that they support 
the long-term success of the Society and attract, retain 
and motivate Directors and Senior Management of the 
quality required to achieve its strategic initiatives and 
business objectives. 

The Committee meets at least twice a year and 
membership comprises all Non-Executive Directors. 
Tariq Khatri is Chair of the Committee. The Executive 
Directors and the Head of Strategy and Organisational 
Development attend by invitation. No Director or 
manager is involved in any decisions about their  
own remuneration. 

The main responsibilities of the Committees are as 
follows: 

• Ensure that a transparent, stretching and rewarding 
performance management structure is in place and 
provide oversight of this structure to ensure that it is 
applied rigorously and fairly; 

• Ensure that the remuneration and benefits awarded 
are aligned with the Society’s budget and consistent 
with industry standards; and 

• Approve the design of, and determine targets for, any 
performance-related pay schemes operated by the 
Society and approve the total annual payments made 
under such schemes. 

The Committee reviews Director and Senior 
Management remuneration annually using data from 
comparable organisations and takes advice from 
external consultants when appropriate. Minutes of the 
meetings are distributed to all Committee Members and 
matters escalated to the Board as and when necessary. 

Non-Executive Directors 
Non-Executive Director fees are based on comparable 
data from similar financial services organisations 
and are considered in consultation with the Chief 
Executive. Remuneration comprises a basic fee with 
supplementary payments for Committee Chairs. Non-
Executive Director fees are not pensionable, nor do the 
individuals participate in any incentive schemes or 
receive any other benefits. Non-Executive Directors have 
formal contracts of service. 

Details of Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration can be 
found in Note 7 to the Accounts. 

Executive Directors 
The remuneration for Executive Directors reflects 
responsibilities and roles within the Society. The total 
emoluments package is set by the Remuneration 
Committee with constituent elements of salary and 
benefits being agreed between the Committee and the 
individual Director. Benefit packages are designed to 
motivate decision-making in the interests of members. 

Jeremy Wood, Kieron Blackburn and Samantha Ward 
have service contracts dated 17 May 2012, 13 July 2020 
and 3 February 2020, respectively. Twelve months’ notice 
is required to be given by the Society to Jeremy Wood 
and six months’ notice by the individual. Six months’ 
notice is required to be given to Samantha Ward and 
six months’ notice by the individual. Kieron Blackburn is 
subject to a one-year fixed term contract and requires 
three months’ notice by the Society and three months’ 
notice by the individual. There are no contractual 
arrangements in respect of bonuses, deferred 
consideration or amended arrangements in the event of 
a transfer of engagement. 

Jeremy Wood and Samantha Ward receive access to a 
healthcare cash plan, receive private healthcare cover 
and have access to an online portal offering a range 
of retail discounts. Samantha Ward is the only Director 
enrolled into the Society’s pension scheme and receives 
11% employer contribution. 
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Details of Executive Directors’ remuneration can be 
found in Note 7 to the Accounts.

Basic Salaries 
Basic salaries are reviewed annually by undertaking an 
external benchmarking organisations exercise which 
compares salaries in similar organisations. 

As part of its approach to mitigate conduct risk 
exposure, the Society does not award bonuses 
or incentives linked to sales performance or lead 
generation to any of its employees or Directors. 

Tariq Khatri  
Chair of the Remuneration Committee  
20 May 2021
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Directors’ Responsibilities Statement  

The following statement, which should be read 
in conjunction with the Statement of Auditor’s 
Responsibilities on page 39, is made by the Directors to 
explain their responsibilities in relation to the preparation 
of the Report and Accounts, Annual Business Statement, 
Directors’ Report and Annual Accounts. 

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report, Annual Business Statement, Directors’ Report and 
the Annual Accounts in accordance with applicable law 
and regulations. 

The Building Societies Act 1986 (“the Act”) requires 
the Directors to prepare Group and Society Annual 
Accounts for each financial year. Under that law they 
have elected to prepare the Group and Society Annual 
Accounts in accordance with UK Accounting Standards 
(UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) and 
applicable law. 

The Group and Society Annual Accounts are required by 
law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and Society as at the end of the financial year 
and of the income and expenditure of the Group and 
Society for the financial year. 

In preparing these accounts, the Directors are  
required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply 
them consistently; 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent; 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards 
have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the accounts; 
and 

• prepare the Annual Accounts on a going concern 
basis, unless it is inappropriate to assume that the 
Group and Society will continue in business. 

In addition to the Annual Accounts, the Act requires 
the Directors to prepare for each financial year an 
Annual Business Statement and a Directors’ report, 
each containing prescribed information relating to the 
business of the Group and Society. 

Directors’ responsibilities for accounting records and 
internal controls 
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group 
and Society: 

• keeps proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position 
of the Group and Society, in accordance with the Act; 
and 

• takes reasonable care to establish, maintain, 
document and review such systems and controls as 
are appropriate to its business in accordance with the 
rules made by the Financial Conduct Authority and 
Prudential Regulation Authority under the Financial 
Services and Markets Act 2000. 

The Directors have general responsibility for taking such 
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the 
assets of the Group and Society and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities. 

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Society’s website. Legislation in the 
UK governing the preparation and dissemination of 
Annual Accounts may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions. 

Peter Hubbard  
Chairman  
20 May 2021
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Dudley 
Building Society 

Report on the audit of the annual accounts 
Opinion 

In our opinion, Dudley Building Society’s group annual accounts and society annual accounts (the “annual accounts”): 

● give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the society’s affairs as at 31 March 2021 and of the 
group’s and the society’s income and expenditure and the group’s and the society’s cash flows for the year then 
ended; 

● have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland”), and applicable law; and  

● have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986. 

We have audited the annual accounts, included within the Report and Accounts (the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the 
group and society statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021; the group and society income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income, the group and society cash flow statement, and the group and society statement of 
changes in members’ interest for the year then ended; the accounting policies; and the notes to the annual accounts, which 
include a description of the significant accounting policies. 

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee. 
 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law.  
Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the annual 
accounts section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
annual accounts in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard applicable to public interest entities and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were 
not provided to the group. 

 

Our audit approach 

Overview 

 Materiality 
 

● £259,000 (2020: £249,000) - Group and Society annual accounts 
● Based on 1% of Net Assets 

Scoping ● The scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures 
performed were determined by our risk assessment of the operations of the Group 
and Society. 

● Audit procedures were performed over all material account balances and financial 
information of the Society due to its significance to the Group’s financial performance 
and position. 

● The Group comprises the Society and one subsidiary. We did not perform audit 
procedures over the subsidiary as it does not materially contribute to the Group’s 
Financial performance and position. 

 Key audit matters ● Impairment of loans and advances to customers. 
● Recognition of interest income on loans and advances. 
● Impact of COVID-19. 
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The scope of our audit 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the annual 
accounts. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant 
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in 
all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there 
was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.  

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line 
with our responsibilities, outlined in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts section, to detect 
material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of 
detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.  

Based on our understanding of the Group and Society and their industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-
compliance with laws and regulations related to the Financial Conduct Authority’s regulations, the Prudential Regulation 
Authority’s regulations and the UK tax legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a 
material effect on the annual accounts. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the 
annual accounts such as the Building Societies Act 1986. We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for 
fraudulent manipulation of the annual accounts (including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the 
principal risks were related to posting inappropriate journal entries and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit 
procedures performed included: 

● Discussions with management and those charged with governance including consideration of known or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud; 

● Reading key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulatory Authority; 
● Review of internal audit reports in so far as they related to the annual report; 
● Reviewing relevant meeting minutes including those of the Audit and Compliance committee; 
● Incorporation of an element of unpredictability in our testing through altering the nature, timing and/or 

extent of work performed; 
● Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates (see 

key audit matters below); and 
● Identifying and testing journal entries meeting certain risk-based criteria, including unusual or unexpected 

account combinations. 
 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the annual 
accounts. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations 
or through collusion. 

 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of 
the annual accounts of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether 
or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; 
the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments 
we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the annual accounts as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a 
complete list of all risks identified by our audit. The key audit matters below are consistent with last year. 

 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Impairment of loans and advances to 
customers 
Refer to note 1 for accounting policies and accounting 
judgements and estimation uncertainties and notes 14 and 27 
for detailed disclosures around impairment provisions and 
credit risk. 
 
An impairment provision of £1.2m (2020:£1.5m) is recognised 
by the Group and Society against loans and advances to 
customers. The loans and advances represent mortgages secured 
against residential property, commercial property or land.  
 
Collective provisions capture the risk across the portfolio 

We understood, evaluated and challenged the 
appropriateness of the key assumptions used in 
determining impairment provisions, particularly 
PD, HPI and FSD applied.  
 
For the PD applied to collective customers, we tested the 
updated methodology which assessed the customer risk 
profile by reference to the underlying historical arrears and 
debt to income banding data.  We tested the historical 
experience of the Society for the FSD used in the model.  
 
For the underlying security, we agreed a sample of property 
valuations to latest valuations prepared by 
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relating to impairment events which have been incurred but 
not yet reported at the balance sheet date. 
 
Management uses an impairment model to calculate the 
collective provision on an account level basis. This year 
management has updated the methodology to calculate the 
Probability of Default (PD).  
 
The assumptions used in the model require management 
judgement, the assumptions with the greatest management 
judgment were the PD, House Price Indexation (HPI) and 
Forced Sale Discounts (FSD). 
 
Specific provisions are determined by assigning a higher PD in 
the model to loans which meet certain risk criteria such as 
customers in arrears, first time buyers, out of term customers or 
customers with second charge over collateral.  
 
A management overlay of £418k (2020: £452k) has been booked 
to respond to the latent risks caused by COVID-19 and the 
granting of payment holidays to customers. 
 
We consider the appropriateness of the model methodologies  
and the following judgements used in the determination of the 
provision to be significant: 

● The PD assigned to all accounts to  
determine a provision (collective and specific) for 
identification of impairment events that have not yet 
emerged; 

● The increase in the PD given to higher risk  
customers including customers who were granted 
payment holidays;  

● The value of underlying security, adjusted for HPI; and 
● The FSD applied to all customers. 

 
Our audit work on the overlay was focused on the 
appropriateness of the management judgements and the 
supporting calculations. 
 

external valuers and recalculating indexation to the 
period end date where appropriate. We assessed the 
management judgement to use the adjusted HPI in light of 
the uncertain economic environment and the impact of 
Government programmes, specifically the stamp duty holiday 
on the housing market. 
 
We performed testing to ensure that loans meeting the 
defined higher risk criteria have been captured within the 
specific provision. 
 
We undertook sensitivity analysis on the Society's impairment 
model to assess the impact of adopting different assumptions 
(PD, HPI and FSD) which could be considered reasonable 
based on our industry experience and knowledge. 
 
We tested the completeness and accuracy of underlying data 
used in the impairment calculations. 
 
We also performed testing to assess that loans meeting the 
defined risk criteria had been captured in the assessment of 
specific provisions. We assessed the reasonableness and 
recalculated the PD by comparing it with historic experience. 
We also performed sensitivity analysis to assess the degree of 
change required in those assumptions to result in material 
movements in the specific provision.    
 
We assessed the appropriateness of the management overlay 
through assessing  latent risk using our industry knowledge 
and experience. We assessed the rationale for those used by 
management, and undertook sensitivity analysis over the key 
assumptions to determine whether the overall adjustment is 
reasonable.  
 
We reviewed the impairment and sensitivity analysis 
disclosures made by management in the annual accounts to 
ensure compliance with accounting standards and agreed the 
disclosures to support evidence without material exceptions. 
 
We concluded that the impairment provisions were 
reasonable.  

Recognition of interest income on loans and 
advances 
Refer to the accounting policy on page 52. Management’s 
significant assumptions and estimates are set 
out on page 58. 
 
The Group and the Society recognises interest income using 
the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method which spreads 
interest and directly attributable cash flows, the most 
significant of which relate to loan arrangement fees and 
upfront cost of new lending, over the expected life of the loan. 
 
The expected behavioural life of the loans and advances to 
which the fees relate is a key estimate. Management makes 
this estimate by considering historical redemption behaviour  
on the loan book. We focussed our work on this area. 

We understood the basis of management’s process for 
recognising interest income using the EIR method and 
identified the key data inputs and assumptions within 
management’s calculation. 
 
We tested the approach to management’s interest income 
recognition to determine whether it is consistent with the 
accounting standards. This included assessing whether the 
fees and expenses incorporated within management’s model 
should be included within the effective interest rate 
calculation. 
 
We tested a sample of loan data included in management’s 
calculations to the underlying supporting documents. We 
tested the mathematical accuracy of the calculation of the EIR 
balances that have been accounted for. 
 
We compared the Group and Society’s estimate of expected 
lives of mortgages to its historical experience of redemptions. 
We performed sensitivity analysis over this assumption to 
consider how the Society’s interest income recognition would 
change in the event of management using a different 
assumption. 
 
We concluded that the EIR accounting has been based on an 
appropriate methodology and with reasonable estimates. 
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Impact of COVID-19 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has resulted in 
unprecedented economic conditions, associated government 
support programmes and regulatory interventions to support 
businesses and individuals.  
 
The COVID-19 pandemic has also changed the way that 
companies operate their businesses, with one of the most 
substantial impacts being the transition to remote working. 
A substantial proportion of the Society’s employees have been 
working remotely during 2020/21 as has our audit team. 
 
The roll out of vaccines has created an expectation that the 
restrictions will be eased, however, there remains uncertainty 
about the future mutation and spread of the disease, the extent 
and impact of government measures and the economic outlook.  
 
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and resulting uncertainty 
has impacted certain estimates in the annual accounts of the 
Society. The directors have specifically considered a number of 
matters including:  
 

● The impact on the Society’s control environment; 
● The impairment of loans and advances to customers; 

and 
● The going concern assessment of the Group and Society. 

 
Following the consideration of this assessment, the Directors 
continue to believe that it is appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Accounts. 
 
Disclosures relating to the appropriateness of the use of the  
going concern basis of preparation and the considerations  
made by the directors when drawing this conclusion is given  
on page 22. 
 
 

We considered management’s approach to assessing the 
impact of COVID-19 on the Group and Society and its Report 
and Accounts. We also tailored our planning and execution of 
the audit to give specific consideration to the impact of 
COVID-19 by performing the following procedures:  
 

● We considered the impact of COVID-19 on the 
Society’s control environment.  
 

● We adapted our own working practices to remote 
working and ensured we gathered appropriate 
reliable audit evidence.  

 
The impact of COVID-19 on the most significant accounting 
estimate and our audit is in relation to impairment of loans 
and advances to customers as reported above in the relevant 
Key Audit Matter in this opinion. In addition, we also carried 
out the following procedures:  
 

● We evaluated and challenged management’s 
assessment of the impact of Covid-19 on its business 
plans, capital and liquidity position and future 
profitability. The findings are included in the section 
‘Conclusions relating to going concern’ later in this 
opinion; 
 

● We attended the Audit and Compliance Committee 
meetings throughout the year which considered the 
COVID-19 impacts in advance of reporting; and 
 

● We evaluated management’s disclosures in the 
annual report and accounts and checked the 
consistency of the disclosures with our knowledge of 
the Group and Society based on our audit.  

 
As a result of these procedures and the information available, 
we have not identified any matters to report with respect to 
the directors consideration of the impact of COVID-19 on the 
Group and the Society. 
 
 

      
How we tailored the audit scope  

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the annual 
accounts as a whole, taking into account the structure of the group and the society, the accounting processes and controls, 
and the industry in which they operate.  

All of the Group’s activities are in the United Kingdom with a single line of business being the provision of mortgages and 
savings products to the members and other customers. The Group is formed of the Society and one subsidiary, which is not 
material to the Group. The accounting records for the entire Group are located at the Society’s principal office in Dudley. 
 
Audit procedures were performed over all material account balances and financial information of the Society due to its 
significance to the Group’s financial performance and position. We did not perform audit procedures over the subsidiary as 
it does not materially contribute to the Group’s financial performance or position. 
 
All the audit procedures were conducted remotely due to COVID-19 and restrictions imposed by the UK Government and 
were performed by a single audit team. We did not require involvement of any component auditors. 
 
The audit procedures performed provided us with sufficient audit evidence as a basis for our opinion on the Group annual 
accounts as a whole. 
 

Materiality 

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, 
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timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating 
the effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the annual accounts as a whole.  

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the annual accounts as a whole as follows: 

 

    Group and Society annual accounts 

Overall materiality  £259,000 (2020: £249,000) 

How we determined it  1% of net assets. 

Rationale for benchmark applied  The Group and Society’s principal activity is the provision of long-term 
residential mortgages to borrowers, financed by personal savings from 
members. The strategy is not one purely of profit maximisation but to provide 
a secure place for customer investments in a mutual environment. 
 
Therefore, we base our materiality calculation on net assets, as an appropriate 
benchmark. 

 

We use performance materiality to reduce to an appropriately low level the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and 
undetected misstatements exceeds overall materiality. Specifically, we use performance materiality in determining the scope 
of our audit and the nature and extent of our testing of account balances, classes of transactions and disclosures, for 
example in determining sample sizes. Our performance materiality was 75% of overall materiality, amounting to £194,000 
for the group and society financial statements.  

In determining the performance materiality, we considered a number of factors - the history of misstatements, risk 
assessment and aggregation risk and the effectiveness of controls - and concluded that an amount at the upper end of our 
normal range was appropriate. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above 
£12,900 (2020: £12,500) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative 
reasons. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the group’s and the society’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting included: 

● A risk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going concern basis of accounting, including the current 
and forecast financial performance, regulatory metrics and the sector in which the Group and Society operates. As 
part of our risk assessment, we reviewed and considered the Group’s corporate plan, ICAAP and ILAAP, regulatory 
correspondence and management reports provided to key governance forums;  
 

● Evaluation of the reasonableness of the Group and Society’s corporate plans, covering a period upto March 2024, 
including testing key assumptions and performance of sensitivity analysis using our understanding of the Group 
and its financial and operating performance obtained through the course of our audit. We have also considered the 
historical accuracy of previous corporate plans as part of this assessment;  
 

● Evaluation of the Group’s and Society’s access to the Bank of England funding facilities; and 
 

● Testing of the appropriateness of the disclosures made in the Annual report and accounts.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the society’s ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the annual accounts are authorised for issue. 
 
In auditing the annual accounts, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the annual accounts is appropriate. 
 
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the group’s 
and society’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 
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Reporting on other information  

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the annual accounts and our 
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the annual accounts does 
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the annual accounts or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material 
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the annual 
accounts or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report 
based on these responsibilities. 

With respect to the Annual Business Statement and Directors’ Report we also considered whether the disclosures required 
by the Building Societies Act 1986 have been included. 

Building Societies Act 1986 – Opinion on Annual Business Statement and Directors’ Report 

In our opinion, based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

● the Annual Business Statement and the Directors’ Report have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Building Societies Act 1986; 

● the information given in the Directors’ Report for the year ended 31 March 2021 is consistent with the 
accounting records and the annual accounts; and 

● the information given in the Annual Business Statement (other than the information upon which we are not 
required to report) gives a true representation of the matters in respect of which it is given. 

Responsibilities for the annual accounts and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the annual accounts 

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
annual accounts in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The 
directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of annual 
accounts that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and society’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group and society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these annual accounts.  

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances, possibly using data 
auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than testing 
complete populations. We will often seek to target particular items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In 
other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is 
selected. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the annual accounts is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the society’s members as a body in accordance with 
Section 78 of the Building Societies Act 1986 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 



45

 

 

Other required reporting 
Building Societies Act 1986 exception reporting 

Under the Building Societies Act 1986 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion: 

● adequate accounting records have not been kept by the society; or 

● the society annual accounts are not in agreement with the accounting records; or 

● we have not received all the information and explanations and access to documents we require for our audit. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment 

Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the directors on 19 September 2020 to audit 
the annual accounts for the year ended 31 March 2020 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total uninterrupted 
engagement is 2 years, covering the years ended 31 March 2020 to 31 March 2021. 

 

 

Ajay Kabra (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Milton Keynes 
20 May 2021 
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Note

Group and  
Society  

2021  
£000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Interest receivable and similar income 2 14,903 15,189
Interest payable and similar charges 3 (4,225) (5,222)

Net interest receivable 10,678 9,967 

Fees and commissions receivable 68 130 
Fees and commissions payable (150) (189)
Other operating income 4 34 

Total operating income 10,600 9,942 

Fair Value Gains/ (Losses) on Financial Instruments 4 57 (85)

Total income 10,657 9,857 

Administrative expenses 5 (8,307) (7,677) 
Depreciation and amortisation 17, 18 (441) (415) 

Operating profit before impairment losses  
and provisions 1,909 1,765 

Impairment Gains/(Losses) on loans and advances 14 302 (285) 

Operating profit before FSCS levy 2,211 1,480 

Provisions for FSCS levy 24 - (298) 

Profit before tax 2,211 1,480 

Tax expense 8 (427) (285) 

Profit for the financial year 26 1,784 1,182 

The notes on pages 51 to 93 form part of these accounts. The above results are all derived from continuing operations. 

Income Statement 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021
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The notes on pages 51 to 93 form part of these accounts. The above results are all derived from continuing operations. 

Group and Society 2021 
£000s

Group and Society 2020 
£000s

Profit for the Financial Year 1,784 1,182 
Other Comprehensive Income
Items that may subsequently be reclassified to Profit or Loss  
Available-for-Sale investments
Unrealised gains / (losses) on debt securities 5 15
Other comprehensive income for the financial year net of tax 5 15

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 1,789 1,197 

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

Group and Society 2021

General 
Reserves  

£000s

Available- 
for-Sale 
Reserve 

£000s
Total  

£000s
Balance as at 1 April 2020 24,955 (22) 24,933
Profit for the year 1,784 - 1,784 
Other Comprehensive Income for the year (net of tax) - 5 5 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 1,784 5 1,789 

Balance as at 31 March 2021 26,739 (17) 26,722 

Group and Society 2020  £000s £000s  £000s
Balance as at 1 April 2019 23,773 (37) 23,736 
Profit for the year 1,182 - 1,182 
Other Comprehensive Income for the year (net of tax) - 15 15 

Total Comprehensive Income for the year 1,182 15 1,197 

Balance as at 31 March 2020 24,955 (22) 24,933 

Statement of Change in Members’ Interests
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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Note

Group and  
Society 2021  

£000s

Group and 
Society 2020 

£000s
Assets
Liquid Assets
Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 9 94,282 65,646 
Loans and advances to credit institutions 10 11,575 8,515 
Debt securities 11 10,399 26,891

116,256 101,052 

Derivative financial instruments 12 65 124 
Loans and advances to customers
Loans fully secured on residential property 13 405,431 435,830 
Other loans - loans fully secured on land 13 749 774 

406,180 436,604

Other Debtors 16 515 858
Tangible Fixed Assets 17 1,151 1,319 
Intangible Fixed Assets 18  1,574 1,350

Total Assets 525,741 541,307

Liabilities
Shares 20 446,416 448,846 
Amounts owed to other customers 21 49,885 64,259 

496,301 513,105 

Derivative financial instruments 12 1,328 1,974 
Other liabilities 22 578 527 
Deferred Tax Liability 19 308 249 
Accruals and deferred income 23 504 519
Provisions for liabilities: FSCS Levy 24 - -
Reserves
General Reserves 26 26,739 24,955 
Available-for-Sale Reserve 26 (17) (37)

Total Liabilities and Equity 525,741 541,307 

Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 31 MARCH 2021

The notes on pages 51 to 93 form part of these accounts.
These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 May 2021 and were signed on its behalf by: 

Peter Hubbard    Jeremy Wood    Kieron Blackburn 
Chairman    Chief Executive    Finance Director
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The notes on pages 51 to 91 form part of these accounts. 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Cash flows from operating activities   
Profit before tax 2,211 1,480
Depreciation and amortisation 441 415 
Impairment (gains) / losses on loans and advances to customers (302) 285
Non-cash interest movements on debt securities 432 439 
Changes to the fair value adjustment of hedged risk 452 (1,229) 

3,234 1,390 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities   
Movement in derivative financial instruments (509) 1,318 
Increase in loans and advances to credit institutions (540) (1,374) 
Increase in accruals and deferred income customers 32 224
Decrease / (Increase) in Other assets 345 (296) 
(Decrease) / Increase in Other liabilities and provision for liabilities (163) 105 
Net Decrease / (Increase) in loans and advances to customers 30,130 (75,973) 
Net (Decrease) / Increase in shares (2,337) 94,562
Net (Decrease) / Increase in amounts owed to other customers (14,374) 5,135 
Tax paid (152) (269) 

Net cash Inflow / (Outflow) from operating activities 15,666 24,822 

Cash flows from investing activities   
Purchase of debt securities (4,000) (19,225) 
Sales of debt securities 19,987 8,854 
Purchase of tangible and intangible fixed assets (497) (858) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities 15,490 (11,229)

Net Increase / (Decrease) in cash 31,156 13,593

Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 72,405 58,812 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 103,561 72,405

Cash and cash equivalents comprises of:   
Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 94,282 65,646 
Loans and advances to credit institutions repayable on demand 9,279 6,759 

103,561 72,405

Cash Flow Statement 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021
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1. Accounting Policies 

1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CONSOLIDATION 
Dudley Building Society (the “Society”) has prepared 
these annual accounts in accordance with the Building 
Societies Act 1986, the Building Societies (Accounts 
and Related Provisions) Regulations 1998 and Financial 
Reporting Standard 102, The Financial Reporting 
Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(“FRS102”). The Society has also chosen to apply the 
recognition and measurement provisions of IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
(as adopted for use in the EU). The presentation 
currency of these annual accounts is sterling because 
that is the functional currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Society operates. All amounts 
in the annual accounts have been rounded to the 
nearest £1,000 unless otherwise stated. 

The accounting policies set out below have, unless 
otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these annual accounts. 

The preparation of these accounts in conformity with 
FRS102 requires the Directors to make judgements and 
estimates and use assumptions in the application of 
these policies that have significant effect on the values 
of reported assets and liabilities with a significant risk 
of material adjustment in the next year. Although these 
estimates are based on management judgement and 
best knowledge of the events, actions or amounts, taking 
into account historical evidence and any other relevant 
factors, actual results may differ from these estimates. 
The judgements and estimates used in these accounts 
are discussed in Note 1.13. 

The consolidated annual accounts include the annual 
accounts of the Society and its subsidiary undertaking, 
Dudley Financial Solutions Limited) made up to 31 March 
2021. The results of the subsidiary undertaking are 
included in the consolidated Income Statement and 
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income (“SOCI”) 
however these accounts reflect both the Society and 
Group as a single entity) as the subsidiary has not 
traded since 1 April 2020 and its results for the years 
ended 31 March 2021, 31 March 2020 and 31 March 2019 
are immaterial. 

Going concern 
The accounts have been prepared on the going 
concern basis. This is set out in the Directors’ report on 
page 16 and describes the assessment undertaken by 
the Directors to reach this conclusion. 

Effect of IBOR reform 

Following the financial crisis, the reform and 
replacement of benchmark interest rates such as GBP 
LIBOR and other inter-bank offered rates (‘IBORs’) has 
become a priority for global regulators. The Society’s 
only exposure to the interest rate benchmark reform 
is in relation to its financial assets and liabilities in the 
form of the derivative financial instruments. As part of 
the Society’s risk management strategy to hedge the 
interest rate risk on the fixed rate mortgages, the Society 
enters into interest rate swaps that are benchmarked 
against both 3-month GBP LIBOR and GBP SONIA. As at 
the balance sheet date, the notional value of the GBP 
LIBOR is £51,100,000, and are measured at fair value. 

As part of the reforms noted above, the UK Financial 
Conduct Authority (‘FCA’) has decided to no longer 
compel panel banks to participate in the GBP LIBOR 
submission process after the end of 2021 – although it 
acknowledges that COVID-19 might impact on these 
plans – and to cease oversight of these benchmark 
interest rates. Regulatory authorities and private sector 
working groups, including the International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association (‘ISDA’) and the Working Group 
on Sterling and Risk-Free Reference Rates, continue to 
discuss alternative benchmark rates for GBP LIBOR.  

It is currently expected that SONIA (Sterling Overnight 
Index Average) will replace GBP LIBOR. There remain key 
differences between GBP LIBOR and SONIA. GBP LIBOR 
is a ‘term rate’, which means that it is published for a 
borrowing period (such as three months or six months) 
and is ‘forward looking’, because it is published at the 
beginning of the borrowing period. SONIA is currently 
a ‘backward-looking’ rate, based on overnight rates 
from actual transactions, and it is published at the end 
of the overnight borrowing period. Furthermore, LIBOR 
includes a credit spread over the risk-free rate, which 
SONIA currently does not. To transition existing contracts 
and agreements that reference GBP LIBOR to SONIA, 
adjustments for term differences and credit differences 
might need to be applied to SONIA, to enable the two 
benchmark rates to be economically equivalent  
on transition.  

As at the balance sheet date, industry working 
groups are reviewing methodologies for calculating 
adjustments between GBP LIBOR and SONIA. The Working 
Group on Sterling and Risk-Free Reference Rates has 
stated that it anticipates that a term SONIA reference 
rate could be developed in the first quarter of 2021.  

Notes to the Accounts 
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1.2 MEASUREMENT CONVENTION 
The annual accounts are prepared on the historical cost 
basis except that the following assets and liabilities are 
stated at their fair value: derivative financial instruments 
and available-for-sale debt securities. 

1.3 INTEREST 
Interest income and expense are recognised in profit or 
loss using the effective interest method. The ‘effective 
interest rate’ (EIR) is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments and receipts through 
the expected life of the financial asset or financial 
liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to 
the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial 
liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, 
the Society estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not 
future credit losses. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all 
contractual transaction costs and fees paid or received 
where the future cash flow can be measured reliably. 

Transaction costs include incremental costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of a 
financial asset or financial liability. 

Interest income and expense presented in the Income 
Statement include: 

• interest on financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost calculated on an 
effective interest rate basis; 

• interest on available-for-sale investment securities 
calculated on an effective interest rate basis; 

• the effective portion of fair value changes in qualifying 
hedging derivatives designated in fair value hedges of 
interest rate 

Fair value changes on other derivatives held for risk 
management purposes, and other financial assets 
and financial liabilities carried at fair value through the 
Income Statement, are presented in Total income. 

Notes to the Accounts (cont)

Of the £56,100,000 nominal amount of interest rate swaps above, £16,200,000 will mature before 31 December 2021.   

Notional 
£000s

Assets 
 £000s

Liabilities 
 £000s

Balance 
sheet line 
items (s)

Changes in fair 
value used for 

calculating 
hedge 

ineffectiveness 
 £000s

Notional 
amount 
directly 

impacted by 
IBOR reform

£000s

Fair value hedges  
Interest rate

Interest rate swaps 51,100 - 560
Derivative 

financial 
instruments 

260 34,900 

The Society currently has a significant number of 
contracts which reference GBP LIBOR and extend 
beyond the 31 December 2021, including swaps which 
are benchmarked against GBP LIBOR. These contracts 
are disclosed within the table below. 

The Society’s Treasury team identified those GBP LIBOR 
swaps that mature after 31 December 2021 and as 
such present a financial risk to the Society. The process 
by which the GBP LIBOR swaps will be novated to GBP 
SONIA swaps of equivalent value in the year to 31 March 
2022. was submitted to the Assets & Liabilities Executive 
Committee by the Society’s Treasury team and the 
proposal was approved by the Committee. The novation 
was subsequently noted by the Board.

The following table contains details of the hedging 
instruments at the balance sheet date that reference 
GBP LIBOR that are used in the Society’s hedging 
strategy. The table identifies the notional value of 
those hedging instruments that will be transitioned to 
reference GBP SONIA prior to the end of 2021. 
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1.4  FEES AND COMMISSION 
Fees and commission income and expense that are 
integral to the effective interest rate on a financial asset 
or financial liability are included in the measurement of 
the effective interest rate. 

Other fees and commission income – including account 
servicing fees, sales commission and other fees – are 
recognised as the related services are performed. 

1.5 EXPENSES 
Operating Leases 

Payments (excluding costs for services and insurance) 
made under operating leases are recognised in 
administrative expenses in the Income Statement on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

1.6 TAXATION 
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises amounts 
for current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the 
Income Statement except to the extent that it  
relates to items recognised directly in other 
comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable 
on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting 
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
previous years. 

Deferred tax is provided on timing differences which 
arise from the inclusion of income and expense in 
tax assessments in periods different from those in 
which they are recognised in the annual accounts. 
The following timing difference is not provided for: 
differences between accumulated depreciation and tax 
allowances for the cost of a fixed asset if and when all 
conditions for retaining the tax allowances have been 
met; to the extent that it is not probable that they will 
reverse in the foreseeable future and the reporting entity 
is able to control the reversal of the timing difference. 

Deferred tax is not recognised on permanent differences 
arising because certain types of income or expense 
are non-taxable or are disallowable for tax or because 
certain tax charges or allowances are greater or smaller 
than the corresponding income or expense. 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rate that is expected 
to apply to the reversal of the related difference, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date. Deferred tax balances are  
not discounted. 

1.7  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
Recognition 

The Group initially recognises loans and advances 
and deposits issued on the date on which they are 
originated. All other financial instruments (including 
regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets) 
are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on 
which the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. A financial asset or financial 

liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item 
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. 

Classification 

Financial Assets 

The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the 
following categories: 

• Loans and Receivables  
‘Loans and Receivables’ are non-derivative financial 
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market and that the Group 
does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term

Loans and Receivables are initially measured at fair 
value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and 
subsequently measured at their amortised cost using 
the effective interest method (see 1.3). 

• Available-for-Sale  
Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative 
investments that are designated as available-for-sale 
or are not classified as another category of financial 
assets. Available-for-sale investments comprise the 
Society’s portfolio of debt securities. All available-for-
sale investments are measured at fair value after 
initial recognition. Subsequent changes in fair value, 
other than impairment losses, are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income until sale or 
maturity of the assets, following which the cumulative 
gains or losses are removed from the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and recycled to the  
Income Statement. 

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss using the 
effective interest method (see 1.3). 

• At Fair Value through Profit and Loss  
Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair 
value. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value 
is recognised immediately in the Income Statement. 
However, where derivatives qualify for hedge 
accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or loss 
depends on the nature of the item being hedged. 

On initial designation of the hedge, the Society 
formally documents the relationship between the 
hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), including 
the risk management objective and strategy in 
undertaking the hedge, together with the method that 
will be used to assess the effectiveness of the hedging 
relationship. The Society makes an assessment, both 
at inception of the hedge relationship and on an 
ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instrument(s) 
is / (are) expected to be highly effective in offsetting 
the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the 
respective hedged item(s) during the period for which 
the hedge is designated, and whether the actual 
results of each hedge are within a range of 80–125%. 
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Fair Value Hedges 

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated 
as a hedge against the variability in fair value of a 
recognised asset or liability or an unrecognised firm 
commitment, all changes in the fair value of the 
derivative are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
The carrying value of the hedged item is adjusted 
by the change in fair value that is attributable to the 
risk being hedged (even if it is normally carried at 
cost or amortised cost) and any gains or losses on 
remeasurement are recognised immediately in the 
income statement (even if those gains would normally 
be recognised directly in reserves). If hedge accounting 
is discontinued and the hedged financial asset or 
liability has not been derecognised, any adjustments to 
the carrying amount of the hedged item are amortised 
into profit or loss using the effective interest method 
over the remaining life of the hedged item. 

The forthcoming cessation of GBP LIBOR as a benchmark 
rate due to the IBOR reforms may be a possible source 
of ineffectiveness which would result in the hedging 
relationships failing the highly effective test. Under 
normal circumstances, IAS39 states that where a 
hedging relationship is no longer highly effective, hedge 
accounting must cease. However, adoption of the 
reliefs in the phase 1 reforms would allow the hedging 
relationship to be maintained. 

In the year to 31 March 2021, there have been no failures 
of the hedging effectiveness test where the hedging 
instrument is as swap instrument benchmarked against 
GBP LIBOR and as a result the Society did not need to 
apply the phase 1 reliefs.

Financial Liabilities 

The Society classifies all of its financial liabilities, other 
than derivatives, as measured at amortised cost or fair 
value through other comprehensive income.

Measurement: 

Amortised Cost Measurement 

The ‘amortised cost’ of a financial asset or financial 
liability is the amount at which the financial asset or 
financial liability is measured at initial recognition, minus 
principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation using the effective interest method of  
any difference between the initial amount recognised 
and the maturity amount, minus any reduction  
for impairment.

Fair Value Measurement 

‘Fair value’ is the amount for which an asset could be 
exchanged, a liability settled, or an equity instrument 
granted could be exchanged, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

When available, the Society measures the fair value 
of an instrument using the quoted price in an active 
market for that instrument. A market is regarded as 
active if transactions for the asset or liability take place 
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing 
information on an ongoing basis. 

If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the 
Society uses valuation techniques that maximise the use 
of relevant observable inputs and minimise the use of 
unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique 
incorporates all of the factors that market participants 
would take into account in pricing a transaction. 

De-recognition of financial instruments 

The Society derecognises a financial asset when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows in a transaction in which 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 
Society neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not 
retain control of the financial asset. On derecognition of 
a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated 
to the portion of the asset derecognised) and the sum 
of; (i) the consideration received (including any new 
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) 
any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised 
in other comprehensive income is recognised in the 
Income Statement. Any interest in transferred financial 
assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or 
retained by the Group is recognised as a separate asset 
or liability.

Impairment of financial assets not measured  
at fair value 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether 
there is objective evidence that financial assets not 
carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired. A 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is ‘impaired’ 
when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event 
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset(s) 
and that the loss event has an impact on the future 
cash flows of the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably. 
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired 
includes: 

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 

• default or delinquency by a borrower; 

• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the 
Society on terms that the Society would not consider 
otherwise; 

• indications that a borrower or issuer will enter 
bankruptcy;
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55

• the disappearance of an active market for a security; 
or 

• observable data relating to a group of assets such as 
adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers 
or issuers in the group, or economic conditions that 
correlate with defaults in the group. 

The Society considers evidence of impairment for loans 
and advances at both a specific asset and a collective 
level. All individually significant loans and advances are 
assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to 
be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed 
for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet 
identified. Loans and advances that are not individually 
significant are collectively assessed for impairment 
by grouping together loans and advances with similar 
product characteristics. 

In assessing collective impairment, the Society uses 
statistical modelling of historical trends of the probability 
of default, the timing of recoveries and the amount 
of loss incurred and makes an adjustment if current 
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual 
losses are likely to be greater or less than is suggested 
by historical trends. Default rates, loss rates and the 
expected timing of future recoveries are regularly 
refreshed to reflect experience against actual outcomes 
to ensure that they remain appropriate. 

Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised 
cost are calculated as the difference between the 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original 
effective interest rate. 

The Society has a closed portfolio of equity release 
mortgage loans, representing 1.0% of total Loans and 
advances to customers (2020: 1.0%). A particular clause 
of the mortgage contract meets the definition of an 
insurance contract, which is accounted for under FRS103, 
where a borrower dies or goes into long term care and 
a redemption receipt is less than the contractual sum 
owed the Society does not have any further ability to 
recover amounts from the borrower or the estate. 

Under FRS102 the Society has continued to account for 
these mortgage contracts using its existing accounting 
policies. The mortgage contract has been classified 
as being not unbundled. The impact of assessing the 
contracts as being “not unbundled” is that the income 
earned on the mortgage contracts is not split between 
interest and insurance premium and that the mortgage 
asset is included within loans and advances at the 
present value of future cash flows. 

Measurement and recognition of the income earned 
on the mortgage contract has been undertaken in line 
with the Society’s other mortgage contracts; the income 
earned has been included in the Income Statement 
within the ‘Interest receivable and similar income’ 

category. Within the Consolidated statement of financial 
position, the mortgage asset (page 49), along with any 
impairment if there were any, is disclosed in line with IAS 
39. The insurance risk liability associated with the no-
negative equity guarantee is calculated by estimating 
potential shortfalls arising at redemption, discounted 
at the effective interest rate, and is represented by the 
impairment provision. 

The assessment incorporates assumptions relating 
to future house price values at the time of account 
redemption. Its assessment is also based on expected 
future outcomes relating to the date on which an 
account redeems which, given the nature of the product 
is expected to be on death of the borrower, but can 
be affected by health issues that would see borrowers 
move into care; it can also be affected by non-health 
related voluntary pre-payment. 

Forbearance 

A range of forbearance options is available to support 
customers who are in financial difficulty. The purpose 
of forbearance is to support customers who have 
temporary financial difficulties and help them get back 
on track. The options offered by the Society are: 

• Temporary transfer to an Interest Only arrangement; 

• Temporary reduced monthly payment; 

• Product review; 

• Capitalisation of arrears; 

• Extension of mortgage term. 

Before being granted a forbearance option, customers 
will need to provide information to support the request 
which is likely to include a budget planner, statement 
of assets and liabilities, bank / credit card statements, 
payslips etc., in order that the request can be properly 
assessed. If the forbearance request is granted the 
account is monitored in accordance with our policy  
and procedures. 

At the appropriate time the forbearance option that 
has been implemented is cancelled, with the exception 
of capitalisation of arrears, and the customer’s normal 
contractual payment is restored. 

Loans that are subject to restructuring may only 
be classified as restructured and up-to-date once 
a specified number and / or amount of qualifying 
payments have been received. These qualifying 
payments are set at a level appropriate to the nature 
of the loan and the customer’s ability to make the 
repayment going forward. 



56

Impairment losses are recognised in the Income 
Statement and reflected in an allowance account 
against loans and receivables. Interest on the impaired 
assets continues to be recognised through the 
unwinding of the discount. If an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised causes the amount 
of impairment loss to decrease, then the decrease in 
impairment loss is reversed through the  
Income Statement. 

COVID-19 

In January 2021, the FCA issued updated guidance on 
how they expect mortgage lenders and administrators 
to treat customers fairly during the COVID-19. The 
Directors consider that the Society’s forbearance options 
described above already complied with the guidance 
and has taken (and continues to take) all reasonable 
steps to support its borrowing members impacted by 
COVID-19 applying forbearance in accordance with  
the guidance. 

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment 
securities are recognised by reclassifying the losses 
accumulated in the available for sale reserve. The 
cumulative loss that is reclassified from reserves to profit 
or loss is the difference between the acquisition cost, net 
of any principal repayment and amortisation, and the 
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognised in profit or loss. Changes in impairment 
attributable to application of the effective interest 
method are reflected as a component of  
interest income. 

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired 
available-for-sale debt security increases and the 
increase can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, 
then the impairment loss is reversed through the Income 
Statement; otherwise, any increase in fair value is 
recognised through the SOCI. Any subsequent recovery 
in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity 
security is always recognised in the SOCI. 

1.8  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
For the purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash 
comprises cash in hand and unrestricted loans and 
advances to credit institutions repayable on demand. 
Cash equivalents comprise highly liquid unrestricted 
investments that are readily convertible into cash.

1.9  TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost / deemed cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Where parts of an item of tangible 
fixed assets have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items of tangible fixed assets, 
for example land is treated separately from buildings. 

The Society assesses at each reporting date whether 
tangible fixed assets are impaired. 

Depreciation is charged to the profit and loss account 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of each part of an item of tangible fixed assets. Leased 
assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease 
term and their useful lives. Land is not depreciated.  
The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

• Freehold premises – 50 years 

• Short Leasehold property – the term of the lease 

• Equipment, fixtures, fittings and motor vehicles –  
3-7 years 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
are reviewed if there is an indication of a significant 
change since last annual reporting date in the pattern 
by which the Society expects to consume an asset’s 
future economic benefits. 

1.10  INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
Computer Software 

Purchased software and costs directly associated 
with the internal development of computer software 
are capitalised and recognised as intangible assets 
where the software is an identifiable asset controlled 
by the Society, which will generate future economic 
benefits and where costs can be reliably measured. 
Costs incurred to establish technological feasibility or to 
maintain existing levels of performance are recognised 
as an expense incurred. Intangible assets are stated  
at cost less cumulative amortisation and any 
impairment charges. 

Amortisation 

Amortisation begins when the asset becomes 
available for operational use in accordance with the 
Directors’ expectations and is charged to the Income 
Statement over the estimated useful life of the asset, 
which the Society estimates to be seven years or the 
contractual term, whichever best reflects the rate that 
the economic benefit is consumed. The Society reviews 
the amortisation period and method when events and 
circumstances indicate that the useful life may have 
changed since the last reporting date. 

Intangible assets are tested for impairment in 
accordance with Section 27 of FRS102 when there is an 
indication of impairment.
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1.11  IMPAIRMENT EXCLUDING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 
The carrying amounts of the Society’s non-financial 
assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at 
each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of 
its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to  
the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount 
of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is reversed if and only if the reasons 
for the impairment have ceased to apply. 

1.12  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
Pensions - Defined contribution plans and other long-
term employee benefits 

The Society operates a defined contribution scheme 
funded by contributions from the Society and 
employees. Society contributions are charged to the 
Income Statement as incurred. 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment 
benefit plan under which the Society pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension plans are recognised as an expense in the 
Income Statement in the periods during which services 
are rendered by employees.

1.13  ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTIES 
In applying the Society’s accounting policies, the Society 
is required to make estimates and apply judgements 
that can have a material effect on the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities. Such estimates and judgements 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experienced and expectations of future events believed 
to be reasonable under current circumstances. The key 
judgements and estimates are set out below: 

• Impairment Losses on Loans and Advances to 
Customers (£1,195,000, 2020: £1,548,000)  
The Society reviews the mortgage portfolio on a 
monthly basis to assess for impairment. A degree 
of judgement is required to exercise this evaluation. 
Impairment provisions are calculated using historical 
arrears experience, modelled credit risk characteristics 
and expected cash flows. Estimates are applied in 
respect of house prices, customer behaviour and 
the length of time expected to complete the sale of 
properties in possession. 

The methodology and assumptions used for 
estimating both the amount and timing of future 
cash flows are reviewed regularly and compared with 
actual experience. 

The three main contributing factors towards the 
provisioning requirement are the movement in 
house prices (measured by a house price index), the 
probability of default and the forced sale discount. 
The impairment methodology adopted in the current 
year incorporates an assessment of the movement 
in the house price index and the probability of 
default. To ensure that the impairment methodology 
appropriately reflects the level of risk associated with 
each category within the mortgage book (including 
any payment related issues not yet identified), the 
probability of default is extrapolated from the actual 
historical loss experience and is applied across  
each category.

Whilst the Board believes that the UK housing market 
remains strong and will continue to grow in the long 
term, the Board acknowledges that there may be 
uncertainty in relation to house prices in the short 
term. To reflect this uncertainty, a sensitivity analysis 
has been performed on the house prices that have 
been utilised in the calculation of the provision 
requirement, which might be generated by the ending 
of the stamp duty holiday. A 5% decrease in the house 
prices compared to our estimates would result in an 
increase in the provision of £371,000 and a 5% increase 
in the house prices would result in a reduction in the 
provision of £303,000. 

In addition to this, the Board has considered 
the potential changes to the forecast rates of 
unemployment when deriving the probability 
of default assumptions incorporated within the 
methodology applied to the impairment calculations. 
The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Report 
published in February 2021 has forecast an increase in 
the rate of unemployment in the middle of 2021 before 
returning to pre-pandemic levels later in the year. 
Accordingly a sensitivity analysis has been undertaken 
of the probability of default and a 1% increase in the 
probability of default would result in an increase in 
the provision of £188,000 and a 1% reduction in the 
probability of default would reduce the provision  
by £233,000. 
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COVID-19  
In determining impairment losses at 31 March 2021, 
the Directors have given further consideration to the 
potential adverse economic impact resulting from the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the initiatives that have been 
implemented by the UK Government. In accordance with 
the FCA guidelines, the Society has put in place a series 
of forbearance measures to support any of its borrowing 
members impacted by COVID-19. In the year to 31 March 
2021, there were 570 cases that were subject to the 
Society’s forbearance measures, of which 567 related 
to payment holiday arrangements and 3 related to true 
forbearance. As at the balance sheet date, there were 
24 ongoing cases of payment holiday arrangements 
(including forbearance arrangements) (2020: 347) with 
outstanding account balances totalling £4,122,000 (2020: 
£59,442,000). Of the ongoing cases, 21 relate to Covid-19 
payment holidays with outstanding mortgage balances 
of £3,756,000 (2020: £49,794,000). In accordance with 
FCA guidance, no new COVID-19 payment holidays were 
granted after 31 March 2021 and once current payment 
holiday arrangements expire, cases will be managed 
through the Society’s existing forbearance processes. 

Whilst the final adverse impact economic of the 
COVID-19 pandemic is yet to be quantified, the Directors 
believe that the ongoing initiatives introduced by the 
UK Government to support the economy have gone a 
long way to mitigate the risks. However, the Directors 
acknowledge that risks remain both in terms of the rate 
of unemployment and the underlying asset valuations 
and as such the impairment assessment should 
incorporate an assessment of those risks that are 
delivered by the provisioning methodology. Accordingly, 
as at the balance sheet date the value of the 
impairment provision of £1,195,000 includes an amount 
of £418,000 (2020: £452,000) to reflect the increased 
levels of risk that persist within the economy. 

Further information on forbearance can be found in note 
27.9. Further consideration of the risks and uncertainties 
associated with COVID-19 is given in the Directors’ report 
on pages 16 to 22. 

• Effective Interest Rate  
(Liability £258,000 2020: Liability £251,000)  
The calculation of an Effective Interest Rate (EIR) 
requires judgements regarding the expected life of the 
underlying mortgage asset and affects the carrying 
value of loans and receivables. In determining the 
expected life of mortgage assets, the Society uses 
historical and forecast redemption data as well as 
management judgement. These assumptions are 
reassessed for reasonableness and against actual 
performance periodically throughout the year. A 
one month increase in the actual average life of 
mortgages compared to our estimate would increase 
the carrying value of the mortgage assets by less  
than £2,000. 
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Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

On loans fully secured on residential property 15,637 14,747 
On other loans 35 53 
On debt securities 105 173 
On other liquid assets 68 498 
Net interest expense on derivatives (942) (282)

 14,903 15,189

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

On shares held by individuals 4,202 4,717 
On deposits and other borrowings 123 482 
Net interest (income) / expense on derivatives (100) 23 

 4,225 5,222 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Gain/(Loss) on derivatives in designated Fair Value hedge relationships 506 (1,218) 
Adjustments to hedged items in Fair Value hedge accounting relationships (452) 1,136 
Gain/(Loss) on derivatives not in designated Fair Value hedge relationships 3 (3) 

 57 (85) 

2. Interest Receivable and Similar Income 

3. Interest Payable and Similar Charges 

4. Fair Value Losses on Financial Instruments 

All interest receivable on debt securities is in respect of income from fixed income securities and available for sale securities. 
Interest on loans fully secured on residential property includes interest accrued on impaired and past due residential mortgage 
assets of £74,000 (2020: £66,000). 

The net gain from derivative financial instruments of £57,000 (2020: Loss £85,000) represents the net fair value movement on 
derivative instruments that are matching risk exposure on an economic basis. Some accounting volatility arises on these items due 
to accounting ineffectiveness on designated hedges, or because hedge accounting is not achievable on certain items. 
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Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Wages and salaries 3,889 3,711 
Social security costs 376 343 
Contribution to defined contribution plans 240 240 

4,505 4,294

Other administrative expenses 3,802 3,383

 8,307 7,677

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Other administrative expenses include:   
Operating lease costs:   
Land and buildings 167 150 
Motor vehicles 3 3

Auditor’s remuneration: The remuneration of the external auditor which 
is included within other administrative expenses above is set out below 
(excluding VAT):

Audit of these annual accounts 141 130
Amounts receivable by the Society’s auditor and its associates in respect of:
Audit-related assurance services 6 6
Non-audit services - 21 

 147 157 

5. Administrative Expenses 
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Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Full time  
Principal Office & administration centre 57 54 
Branch Offices 9 9 

66 63

Part time 
Principal Office & administration centre 22 21 
Branch Offices 25 24

47 45

 Total full time and part time 113 108

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

(a) Remuneration of Directors   
Directors’ emoluments  
Services as Directors (Non-Executive Directors) 190 168 
Services in connection with Management (Executive Directors) 590 437

780 605

Details of individual Directors’ emoluments are as follows:-  
Non-Executive

2021
 £000s

2020
£000s

David Milner (Resigned: 16 July 2020) 16 47
Paul Doona 37 36
Jim Muir (Resigned: 23 September 2019) - 15
Zamir Chaudhry 31 29
Tariq Khatri 32 28
Peter Hubbard (Joined: 16 January 2020) 43 7
Nicole Coll (Joined: 16 January 2020) 31 6

 Total 190  168

6. Employees 

7. Remuneration of and Transactions 
with Directors 

The average number of persons employed by the Group and Society (including Executive Directors) during the year 
was as follows:- 

Non-Executive Directors receive only fees for their services. 

During the year under review, the Society chose not to utilise the furlough scheme that was introduced by the UK Government as 
part of the economic measures to mitigate any potential adverse impact as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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7. Remuneration of and Transactions 
with Directors (cont)

2021

Salary 

£000s

Benefits  

£000s

Pension
Contributions

£000

Total  

£000s
Executive     
Jeremy Wood 245 1 - 246
Darren Garner (Resigned 16/07/2020) 80 - - 80 
Samantha Ward 104 1 11 116
Kieron Blackburn (Joined 13/07/2020 Appointed Director 17/07/2020) 148 - - 148 

Total Executive 2021 577 2 11 590

2020

Salary 

£000s

Benefits  

£000s

Pension
Contributions

£000

Total  

£000s
Executive     
Jeremy Wood 233 1 - 234
Peter Beddows (Retired 14/02/2020) 142 - - 142 
Darren Garner (Joined 03/02/2020) 42 - - 42
Samantha Ward (Appointed Director 01/02/2020) 17 - 2 19 

Total Executive 2020 434 1 2 437

Jeremy Wood forfeited £10,000 of salary in 2018/19 in 
respect of his Non-Executive position outside of the 
business as agreed by the Board. In 2019/20 the Board 
decided that this arrangement should be discontinued, 
and an adjustment made to his 2018/19 deduction in line 
with the Non-Executive salaries. Therefore, a net £1,250 
was repaid in 2019/20 and no further deductions made. 

b) Directors’ loans and transactions 

At 31 March 2021, there was one (2020: two) outstanding 
mortgage loans granted in the ordinary course of 
business to Directors or connected persons amounting 
to £210,317 (2020: £304,355). 

A register is maintained at the Head Office of the 
Society, under Section 68 of the Building Societies Act 
1986, which shows details of all loans, transactions 
and arrangements with Directors and their connected 
persons. A statement of the appropriate details 
contained in the Register, for the financial year ended 31 
March 2021 will be available for inspection upon request 
for a period of 15 days up to and including the Annual 
General Meeting.
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Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

The taxation charge for the year comprises:-  
Current tax at 19% (2020: 19%) 368 152 
Adjustment in respect of prior periods - (31) 
Deferred Taxation (See note 19) 59 177 

 Total Tax 427 298

Reconciliation of Current Tax charge  

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 2,211 1,480 

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard 
rate of Corporation Tax in the UK of 19% (2020: 19%) 420 281 
Fixed asset differences 6 7 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1 1
Impact of change in tax rate - 12 
Deferred tax not previously recognised - 28
Prior year adjustment - (31) 

 Current Tax Charge 427 298

8. Taxation 

Current tax has been provided at the rate of 19%. On 3 March 2021 the government announced its intention to increase the 
corporation tax rate from 1 April 2023. This rate will taper from 19% for businesses with profits of less than £50,000 to 25% for 
businesses with profits over £250,000. This is anticipated to be substantively enacted once the Finance Bill 2021 passes the House 
of Commons. At 31 March 2021 however, the rate substantively enacted remained at 19% and therefore deferred tax has been 
calculated at a rate of 19%. 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Cash in hand 447 677 
Bank of England Reserve Account 93,835 64,969 

 Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statements 94,282 65,646 

9. Cash in Hand and Balances with Bank of England 
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At 31 March 2021 £2,296,000 (2020: £1,756,000) of cash has been pledged by the Society against derivative contracts. 

The directors consider the securities held as liquid assets are held with the intention of use on a continuing basis in the Society’s 
activities and are therefore classified as ‘financial fixed assets’ rather than current assets. 

At 31 March 2021 £Nil (2020: £11,800,000) of debt securities held by the Society were pledged to the Bank of England as collateral 
under the ILTR scheme. During the year, the Society drew £40,000,000 (2020: £Nil) under the Bank England’s Term Funding Scheme 
with additional incentives for SMEs and as a participant to that scheme the Society pledged £10,399,000 of debt securities were 
pledged to the Bank of England as collateral.

Movements in debt securities during the year are summarised as follows:

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Repayable on demand 9,279 6,759 
In not more than three months 2,296 1,756 
Total loans and advances to credit institutions included within cash  
and cash equivalents 11,575 8,515

10. Loans and Advances to Credit Institutions 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Treasury Bills - 3,998 
Certificates of Deposit - 2,023 
Gilts 10,399 20,870 

10,399 26,891 

Debt securities have remaining maturities as follows: 
In not more than one year 10,399 16,118
In more than one year but less than five years - 10,773 

10,399 26,891 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

At 1 April 26,891 16,944 
Additions 4,000 19,155 
Disposals and maturities (19,987) (8,854) 
Movement in interest (66) 70
Amortisation (366) (439)
Net (losses) / gains from changes in fair value recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income (73) 15

 At 31 March 10,399 26,891 

11. Debt Securities 
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Group and Society 2021 

Contractual 
/ Notional 

Amount 
£000s

Assets 
Fair Values

 £000s

Liabilities 
Fair Values 

£000s
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges:  
Interest rate swaps 125,800 65 (1,328) 
Derivatives not designated as fair value hedges:  
Interest rate swaps - - - 

Total recognised derivative assets / (liabilities) 125,800 65 (1,328) 

Group and Society 2020 

Contractual 
/ Notional 

Amount 
£000s

Assets 
Fair Values

 £000s

Liabilities 
Fair Values 

£000s
Derivatives designated as fair value hedges:  
Interest rate swaps 157,700 124 (1,971) 
Derivatives not designated as fair value hedges:  
Interest rate swaps 1,200 - (3) 

Total recognised derivative assets / (liabilities) 158,900 124 (1,974) 

12. Derivative Financial Instruments 

At 31 March 2021 £2,296,000 of collateral was posted against the Society’s derivative contracts (2020: £1,756,000). The Society 
provided no collateral to any other parties during the year, other than the Bank Of England - see notes 11 and 13 (2020: £Nil). 
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Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Loans fully secured on residential property 405,551 435,708 
Provision for Impairment Losses (see Note 14) (1,195) (1,548) 
Fair value adjustment for hedged risk 1,075 1,670 

405,431 435,830 

Loans fully secured on land 749 774

406,180 436,604

  
2021

 £000s

  
2020  

£000s
On call and at short notice - 319 
In not more than three months 4,230 706 
In more than three months but not more than one year 9,195 2,239 
In more than one year but not more than five years 66,538 31,602 
In more than five years 326,595 401,867 

406,558 436,733 

Less allowance for impairment (see Note 14) (1,195) (1,548)
Unamortised Effective Interest rate balances 817 1,419 

406,180 436,604 

13. Loans and Advances to Customers 

The maturity of advances secured on residential property, and advances secured on land from the reporting date  
is as follows:- 

The maturity analysis above is based on contractual maturity, not expected redemption levels. 

In common with most mortgage lenders, the Society anticipates that many loans will be repaid earlier than the contractual 
maturity dates disclosed above. 

At 31 March 2021 £Nil (2020: £51,100,000) of mortgage assets held by the Society were pledged to the Bank of England as collateral 
under the Term Funding Scheme (TFS). During the year, the Society drew £40,000,000 (2020: £Nil) under the Bank England’s Term 
Funding Scheme with additional incentives for SMEs (TFSME scheme) and as a participant to that scheme the Society pledged 
£88,232,000 of mortgage assets were pledged to the Bank of England as collateral. 
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Loans fully 
secured 

on residential 
property 

£000s

Other 
loans fully 

secured 
on land 

£000s

Total 

£000s
Individual provision  
At 1 April 2020 551 1 552 
Amounts recovered (51) - (51) 
Charge for the year 60 (1) 59 

At 31 March 2021 560 - 560 

Collective provision  
At 1 April 2020 992 4 996 
(Credit) for the year (360) (1) (361) 

At 31 March 2021 632 3 635 

Individual provision  
At 1 April 2019 490 4 494 
Amounts recovered 11 - 11 
Charge/ (credit) for the year 50 (3) 47 

At 31 March 2020 551 1 552 

Collective provision  
At 1 April 2019 753 5 758 

Charge/ (credit) for the year 239 (1) 238 

At 31 March 2020 992 4 996 

(Credit) to the Income Statement in 2020 / 21   (302) 

Charge to the Income Statement in 2019 / 20   285 

14. Impairment (Losses) / Gains on Loans  
and Advances 

In determining the level of impairment charges to set aside of £1,195,000 (2020: £1,548,000) the potential adverse economic impact 
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic and the effect on the levels of default has been considered. Additional risk factors to allow for 
uncertainties in the house price valuations and forecast rates of unemployment have been incorporated within the amounts set 
aside to reflect management’s expectations of the likely outcome. Please refer to note 1.13 for the sensitivities relating to these. The 
additional provision requirement as a result of these additional risk factors is £418,000 (2020: £452,000) was made as part of the full 
year impairment credit of £302,000 (2020: Charge £285,000) and is disclosed within the collective provision. 

Dudley Financial Solutions Limited, 100% owned by the Society, was formed on 29 April 2015. It was established as a conduit for 
customers to reach financial services and general insurance products. This subsidiary did not trade during the financial year ended 
31 March 2021. On 23 March 2021 the Society formally issued notice of the intention to dissolve the entity. As at the balance sheet 
date formal notification to strike off the entity remains outstanding. 

At 31 March 2021, the net liabilities of the subsidiary were £Nil (2020: £16,000).

  
Society  

2021
 £

  
Society  

2020  
£

Cost and net book value at 31 March 100 100

15. Investments in Subsidiary Undertakings
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All land and buildings are occupied by the Society for its own use. 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Prepayments and Accrued Income
Due within 1 year 504 827 
Due in more than 1 year 11 31 

515 858 

16. Other Debtors 

Leasehold 
Land and 
Buildings 

 £000s

Equipment 
Fixtures, 

Fittings and 
Vehicles 

£000s

Computer 
Equipment 

£000s

Total 

£000s
Cost or valuation  
At 1 April 2020 1,430 222 545 2,197 
Additions - 6 11 17 

At 31 March 2021 1,430 228 556 2,214 

Depreciation  
At 1 April 2020 529 71 278 878 
Charge for the year 105 17 63 185 

At 31 March 2021 634 88 341 1,063 

Net Book Value   

At 31 March 2021 796 140 215 1,151 

At 31 March 2020  901 151 267 1,319 

17. Tangible Fixed Assets 
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18. Intangible Fixed Assets 
Group and  

Society  
2021  

£000s
Cost or valuation 
At 1 April 2020 4,146 
Additions 480 

At 31 March 2021 4,626

Amortisation 
At 1 April 2020 2,796 
Charge for the year 256 

At 31 March 2021 3,052 

Net Book Value 

At 31 March 2021 1,574 

At 31 March 2020 1,350

Intangible assets at 31 March 2021 comprise of the cost of investment in the development of Computer Software and in the new 
online e-savings portal. As at 31 March 2021 £27,000 (2020: £1,164,000) of assets are in the course of construction. Amortisation is 
charged against these assets when they become ready for use by the business over an estimated useful life of 7 years. 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Deferred taxation at 19% (2020: 19%) in respect of timing differences 308 249

Comprising:   
Accelerated capital allowances 343 296 
Other timing differences (35) (47) 

At 31 March – Deferred tax liability 308 249

The movement on the deferred tax liability during the year was as follows:

At 1 April as previously reported – liability 249  72 
Taxation charge (see note 8) 59 177 

At 31 March 2021 308 249

19. Deferred Tax Liabilities 
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Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Held by individuals 446,377 448,714 
Fair value adjustment for hedged risk 39 132 

446,416 448,846 

Shares are repayable with remaining maturities from the reporting date as follows:
Accrued interest 1,466 2,463 
On demand 226,870 144,553
In not more than three months 125,830 176,823
In more than three months but not more than one year 42,574 56,302 
In more than one year but not more than five years 49,259 68,705
In more than five years 417 - 

446,416 448,846 

20. Shares 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Amounts owed to Bank of England 40,001 43,553 
Amounts owed to other customers 9,884 20,706 

49,885 64,259 

Accrued interest 43 227 
Repayable on demand - 1,571 
In not more than three months 6,950 9,149 
In more than three months but not more than one year 2,454 17,557 
In more than one year 40,438 35,755

49,885 64,259 

21. Amounts owed to other customers 

Amounts owed to other customers are repayable from the reporting date in the ordinary course of business  
as follows:- 
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22. Other Liabilities 

24. Provision for Liabilities 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Accruals falling due in less than 1 year 504 519

23. Accruals and Deferred Income 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Falling due within one year:- 
Corporation tax 368 152 
Social security costs 108 113 
Other creditors 102 262

578 527 

Financial Services Compensation Scheme (FSCS) Levy

As at the balance sheet date, the Society has no further exposure to the FSCS Levy. 

25. Employee Benefits 

Retirement Benefits 

All current members of staff are offered membership of a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the 
scheme are held separately from those of the Society in an independently administered fund.

Contributions payable by the Society (including death in service premium) and the charge for the year was £253,000 
(2020: £255,000). There were outstanding contributions of £21,000 (2020: £21,000) at the end of the year.
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26. Reserves 
Group and  

Society  
2021

 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

At 1 April 24,933 23,736 
Profit for the financial year 1,784 1,182 
Other Comprehensive Income 5 15

At 31 March 26,722 24,933

General Reserves 26,739 24,955 
Available for Sale Reserves (17) (22) 

26,722 24,933 

27. Financial Instruments 

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset or financial liability. Dudley Building Society 
is a retailer of financial instruments in the form of mortgages and savings products and uses wholesale financial 
instruments to invest in liquid assets, raise wholesale funding and to manage risks arising from its operations. 

Instruments used for risk management purposes include derivative financial instruments (derivatives) which are 
contracts or agreements whose value is derived from one or more of underlying price, rate or index inherent in the 
contract or agreement, such as interest rates. 

Derivatives are only used by the Society in accordance with the Building Societies Act 1986 (as amended by the 
Building Societies Act 1997) to reduce the risk of loss arising from changes in interest rates or other factors specified 
in the legislation. 

Derivatives are not used in trading activity or for speculative purposes. 

The Society reduces its exposure to interest rate risk applying fair value hedging techniques as follows: 

Activity Risk Fair Value 

Fixed rate  
mortgage lending 

Sensitivity to increases in  
interest rates 

Society pays fixed rate and receives 
variable interest 

Fixed rate savings products  
and funding 

Sensitivity to falls in interest rates Society received fixed rate and pays 
variable interest  

The fair value of derivative financial instruments held at 31 March 2021 is shown in Note 4.
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27. Financial Instruments (cont) 

The Society has a formal governance structure for managing financial and other risks, including an established risk 
appetite, risk limits, reporting lines, mandates and other control procedures. The Assets and Liabilities Committee 
(ALCO) monitors the financial risks (including the use of financial instruments), funding and liquidity in line with the 
Society’s policy statements and reports any significant matters to the Board at its next meeting. 

Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an on-going basis at either fair value or at amortised cost as shown 
in the table below: 

Financial Instrument Terms and Conditions Accounting Policy 

Loans and advances  
to credit institutions 

• Fixed interest rate  
• Fixed term  
• Short to medium term maturity 

• Loans and receivables at  
amortised cost

• Accounted for at settlement date 

Loans and advances  
to customers 

• Secured on residential property  
or land 

• Typical standard contractual term 
of 25 years 

• Fixed or variable rate of interest 

• Loans and receivables at  
amortised cost

• Accounted for from date  
 of advance 

Shares • Fixed or variable term 
• Fixed or variable interest rates 

• Amortised cost 

• Accounted for from the date  
of deposit 

Amounts owed to 
credit institutions 

• Fixed interest rate 
• Fixed term 

• Short to medium term maturity 

• Amortised cost
• Accounted for at settlement date 

Amounts owed to  
other customers 

• Fixed or variable rate of interest 
• Fixed term 
• Short to medium term maturity 

• Amortised cost
• Accounted for at settlement date 

Derivative Financial Instruments • Fixed interest received / paid 
converted to variable interest  
paid / received 

• Based on the notional value of  
the derivative

• Fair value through profit and loss 
• Accounted for at trade date 

Categories of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis either at fair value or at amortised cost. Note 
1.7 ‘Financial instruments’ describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured, and how income and 
expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The tables below analyse the Society’s assets and 
liabilities by financial classification:
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Carrying values by category 

31 March 2021 Held at amortised cost Held at fair value

Loans and 
receivables 

£000

Other 
Financial 

assets and 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost 
£000

Available-
for-sale 

£000s

Derivatives 
designated 

as fair 
value 

hedges 

£000s

Unmatched 
derivatives 

 

£000s

Non- 
financial 

assets  
and

 liabilities 
 

£000s

Total 

£000s
Assets
Cash in hand and balances 
with the Bank of England 94,282 - - - - - 94,282 
Loans and advances to 
credit institutions 11,575 - - - - - 11,575 
Debt securities - - 10,399 - - - 10,399 
Derivative financial 
instruments - - - 65 - - 65 
Loans and advances  
to customers 406,180 - - - - - 406,180 
Other assets - - - - - 3,240 3,240 

Total Assets 512,037 - 10,399 65 - 3,240 525,741

Liabilities 
Shares - 446,416 - - - - 446,416 
Amounts owed to  
other customers - 49,885 - - - - 49,885 
Derivative financial 
instruments - - - 1,328 - - 1,328 
Other liabilities instruments - - - - - 1,390 1,390 

Total Liabilities - 496,301 - 1,328 - 1,390 499,019 

27.1 Financial Instruments
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Carrying values by category 

31 March 2020 Held at amortised cost Held at fair value

Loans and 
receivables 

£000

Other 
Financial 

assets and 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost 
£000

Available-
for-sale 

£000s

Derivatives 
designated 

as fair 
value 

hedges 

£000s

Unmatched 
derivatives 

 

£000s

Non- 
financial 

assets  
and

 liabilities 
 

£000s

Total 

£000s
Assets
Cash in hand and balances 
with the Bank of England 65,646 - - - - - 65,646 
Loans and advances to 
credit institutions 8,515 - - - - - 8,515 
Debt securities - - 26,891 - - - 26,891 
Derivative financial 
instruments - - - 124 - - 124 
Loans and advances  
to customers 436,604 - - - - - 436,604 
Other assets - - - - - 3,527 3,527 

Total Assets 510,765 - 26,891 124 - 3,527 541,307 

Liabilities 
Shares - 448,846 - - - - 448,846 
Amounts owed to  
other customers - 64,259 - - - - 64,259 
Derivative financial 
instruments - - - 1,971 3 - 1,974 
Other liabilities instruments - - - - - 1,295 1,295 

Total Liabilities - 513,105 - 1,971 3 1,295 516,374 

27.1 Financial Instruments (cont)
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27.2 Financial Instruments 

Valuation of financial instruments carried at fair value 

The Society holds certain financial assets and liabilities at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy (see below). 

Valuation techniques 

Fair values are determined using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs in 
measuring fair value: 

Level 1: The most reliable fair values of financial instruments are quoted market prices in an actively traded market. 
The Society’s Level 1 portfolio mainly comprises debt securities for which traded prices are readily available. 

Level 2: These are valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are taken from observable market data. These 
include valuation models used to calculate the present value of expected future cash flows and may be employed 
when no active market exists, and quoted prices are available for similar instruments in active markets. The Society’s 
Level 2 portfolio mainly comprises interest rate derivatives the fair value for which has been determined using 
generally observable LIBOR or SONIA yield curves derived from quoted interest rates which match the timings of the 
cash flows and maturities of the instruments. 

Level 3: These are valuation techniques for which one or more significant input is not based on observable market 
data. Valuation techniques include net present value by way of discounted cash flow models. The Society has no 
assets or liabilities that qualify as Level 3. 

The table below summarises the fair values of the Society’s financial assets and liabilities that are accounted for at 
fair value, analysed by the valuation methodology used by the Society to derive the financial instruments fair value:

 
Level 1
£000s

Level 2
 £000s

Total 
£000s

Group and Society
31 March 2021
Financial assets  
Available for sale  
Debt Securities 10,399 - 10,399 
Fair value through profit and loss 
Interest Rate Swaps - 65 65 

10,399 65 10,464 

Financial liabilities  
Fair value through profit and loss  
Interest Rate Swaps - 1,328 1,328 

- 1,328 1,328 
31 March 2020 £000s  £000s

 
£000s

Financial assets  
Available for sale  
Debt Securities 24,868 2,023 26,891 
Fair value through profit and loss 
Interest Rate Swaps - 124 124 

24,868 2,147 27,015 

Financial liabilities  
Fair value through profit and loss  
Interest Rate Swaps - 1,974 1,974 

- 1,974 1,974 

Financial assets pledged as collateral  
At 31 March 2021, £88,232,000 of mortgage assets and £10,399,000 of debt securities held by the Society were pledged to the Bank 
of England as collateral under the Term Funding Scheme with additional incentives for SMEs (TFSME scheme). As at 31 March 2020, 
£51,100,000 of mortgage assets and £11,800,000 of debt securities were pledged to the Bank of England as collateral under the Term 
Funding Scheme (TFS) and ILTR scheme respectively.
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27.3 Financial Instruments 

Credit Risk 

Credit Risk is the main risk for a mortgage lender; the risk of financial loss arising as a result of the Society’s borrowers 
failing to meet their obligations. The cost of managing those exposures which are considered to carry high risk 
requires intensive management. 

All loan applications are assessed with reference to the Society’s lending policy. Treasury counterparty limits are 
approved and monitored by ALCO and the Board. Further information on the Society’s management of credit risk 
can be found in the Directors’ report on page 16. 

The Society’s maximum credit risk exposure is detailed in the table below: 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Cash in hand and balances with the Bank of England 94,282 65,646 
Loans and advances to credit institutions 11,575 8,515 
Debt securities 10,399 26,891 
Derivative financial instruments 65 124 
Loans and advances to customers 406,180 436,604 

Total statement of financial position exposure 522,501 537,780 

Off balance sheet exposure – mortgage commitment 10,643 18,008

533,144 555,788 
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27.4 Financial Instruments 

Loans and Advances to credit institutions, debt securities and derivative financial instruments 

Industry Sector 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2021  
%

Group and  
Society  

2020
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
%

Banks 11,640 10.05 8,639 8.60 
Building Societies - rated - - 2,023 2.01 
Central Banks 93,835 80.98 64,969 64.65 
Central Governments 10,399 8.97 24,868 24.74 

Total 115,874 100.00 100,499 100.00 

Geographic Region -  
Treasury Assets

2021
 £000s

AAA  
 %

AA-  
 %

A+  
 %

Other
 %

2020  
 £000s

United Kingdom 115,809 - 90.00 9.94 0.06 100,374 

Geographic Region -  
Derivatives

2021
 £000s

AAA  
 %

AA  
 %

A  
 %

Other
 %

2020  
 £000s

United Kingdom 125,800 - - 100.00 - 158,900 

At 31 March 2021 none of the Society’s treasury portfolio exposures were either past due or impaired (2020: Nil).  
There are no assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated. 
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27.5 Financial Instruments 

Loans and Advances to Customers 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 %

Group and  
Society  

2020  
%

East Anglia 9 2 
East Midlands 5 6 
Greater London 20 20 
Northern 2 3 
North West 7 7 
Outer South East 22 29 
South West 10 8 
Wales 3 3 
West Midlands 17 17 
Yorkshire and Humberside 5 5 

100.00 100.00 
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27.6 Financial Instruments 

Credit quality analysis of loans and advances to customers 

The tables below set out information about the credit quality of financial assets and the allowance for impairment / 
loss held by the Group and Society against those assets. 

2021 2020

 

Loans fully 
secured on 
residential 

property
 £000s

Loans fully 
secured on 

land - Other  

£000s

Loans fully 
secured on 
residential 

property
 £000s

Loans fully 
secured on 

land - Other  

£000s
Neither past due nor impaired 350,323 687 386,965 681 

Past due but not impaired     
< 3 months 2,705 - 6,181 - 
> 3 months but < 6 months 387 - 351 -
> 6 months but < 12 months 310 - 299 -
> 12 months 106 - - -

Individually impaired     
Not past due 48,261 63 38,420 93 
< 3 months 3,795 - 3,983 -
> 3 months but < 6 months 110 - 467 -
> 6 months but < 12 months 303 - 156 -
> 12 months 169 - - -
Possession 158 - 556 -

Allowance for impairment     
Individual 560 - 551 1 
Collective 632 3 993 3

Total allowance for impairment 1,192 3 1,544 4 
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27.7 Financial Instruments 

Details of financial and non-financial assets obtained during the year by taking possession of collateral held as 
security against loans and advances as well as calls made on credit enhancements and held at the year-end are 
shown below. 

Fair value of collateral held 

The Society holds collateral against each loan and advance in the form of property. The use of such collateral is in 
line with terms that are usual and customary to standard lending activities.  The valuation of the collateral excludes 
any adjustments for obtaining and selling the collateral. The value of the collateral for residential mortgage loans is 
based on the collateral value at origination updated based on changes in the Halifax House Price Index. 

2021 2020

 Group and Society 

Collateral 
value held 

against 
Loans fully 

secured on 
residential 

property 
 £000s

Collateral 
value held 

against 
Loans fully 

secured on 
land 

£000s

Collateral 
value held 

against 
Loans fully 

secured on 
residential 

property 
 £000s

Collateral 
value held 

against 
Loans fully 

secured on 
land 

£000s
Neither past due nor impaired 935,042 1,434 988,713 1,359 

Past due but not impaired     
< 3 months 8,329 - 19,121 - 
> 3 months but < 6 months 663 - 1,140 -
> 6 months but < 12 months 602 - 934 -
> 12 months 191 - - -

Individually impaired     
Not past due 67,081 114 53,425 164 
< 3 months 5,557 - 5,846 -
> 3 months but < 6 months 160 - 726 -
> 6 months but < 12 months 366 - 186 -
> 12 months 182 - 186 -
Possession 115 - 500 -

Total collateral value 1,018,288 1,548 1,070,777 1,523 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Property 533,144 555,788 

The Society’s policy is to pursue the timely realisation of the collateral in an orderly manner. 
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27.8 Financial Instruments

The tables below stratify credit exposures from mortgage loans and advances to retail customers by ranges of 
loan-to-value (LTV) ratio. LTV is calculated as the ratio of the gross amount of the loan – or the amount committed 
for loan commitments – to the value of the collateral. The gross amounts exclude any impairment allowance. 
The valuation of the collateral excludes any adjustments for obtaining and selling the collateral. The value of the 
collateral for residential mortgage loans is based on the collateral value at origination updated based on changes 
in the Halifax House Price Index. 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 %

Group and  
Society  

2020  
%

LTV ratio   
0-50% 45.96 40.91 
51-75% 45.73 44.25 
76-90% 8.03 13.84 
91-100% 0.13 0.83 
>100% 0.15 0.17

Weighted Average LTV 50.78 53.91 



84

27.9 Financial Instruments 

Forbearance 
An explanation of what forbearance is, and the Society’s forbearance strategies is provided in Note 1.7. This includes a 
description of forbearance arrangements specifically connected to COVID-19. 

The table below analyses the number of residential mortgage borrowers with renegotiated terms at the year-end 
date:

COVID-19 
At 31 March 2021 the Society had 21 (2020: 346) 
mortgages with balances of £4,122,000  
(2020: £59,442,000) in respect of Reduced Monthly 
Payment forbearance arrangement which relate to 
payment holidays requested as a result of the  
COVID-19 situation. 

Other 
There are also 124 cases that are in an overpayment 
arrangement (2020: 80).

In accordance with previous years and with generally 
accepted practice for statutory disclosure, the above 
do not include cases where the full monthly contractual 
payment is being made but with Government support.

At 31 March 2021 the Society had 28 mortgages (2020: 
30) with balances of £2,126,000 (2020: £1,410,000) in 
respect of deceased borrowers of which 7 (2020: 6) 
with balances of £494,000 (2020: £516,000) had been 
outstanding for more than 18 months since the date of 
the borrower’s death.

Type of forbearance 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 Number

Group and  
Society  

2021  
£000s

Group and  
Society  

2020
 Number

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Interest Only concessions - - - - 
Capitalisation within last 6 months - - - - 
Mortgage term extensions within last 6 months - - 1 2 
Reduced Monthly Payment 21 4,122 346 59,440 

21 4,122 347 59,442 
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27.10 Financial Instruments 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Society will be unable 
to meet its financial obligations as they fall due in both 
‘business as usual’ conditions and stressed situations. 

At the Society, the main form of liquidity risk arises 
from the mismatch in the maturity period of long-term 
mortgage loans and short-term savings deposits. The 
Society mitigates this risk by ensuring it holds adequate 
high-quality liquid assets to cover a variety of severe but 
plausible stress scenarios. 

Further information on the Society’s management of 
liquidity risk can be found in the Director’s report on 
page 16. 

The Society’s liquid assets comprise of high quality liquid 
assets and certificate of deposits. The High-Quality 
Liquid Assets consist of balances in the Society’s Bank of 
England reserve account and UK Government Gilts.  
At 31 March 2021 liquid assets as a percentage of shares, 
deposits and loans was 23.4% compared to 19.7% at 31 
March 2020. 

Maturity analysis for financial assets and financial 
liabilities 

The tables below set out the remaining contractual 
maturities of the Society’s financial liabilities and 
financial assets. In practice, contractual maturities are 
not always reflected in actual experience. For example, 
loans and advances to customers tend to repay ahead 
of contractual maturity and customer deposits (for 
example shares) are likely to be repaid later than on the 
earliest date on which repayment can be required.
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27.10 Financial Instruments (cont) 
Group and Society
 31 March 2021 

On 
demand 

£000s

Not 
more 

than three 
months 

 

£000s

More 
than 

three 
months 
but not 

more 
than one 

year 
£000s

More 
than 

one year 
but not 

more 
than five 

years 

 £000s

More 
than five 

years 

 

 

£000s

No 
specific 

maturity 
 

£000s

Total 

£000s
Assets
Cash in hand and balances 
with Bank of England 93,835 - - - - 447 94,282 
Loans and advances to 
credit institutions 9,279 2,296 - - - - 11,575 
Debt securities - - 10,399 - - - 10,399 
Derivative financial 
instruments - 5 30 30 - - 65 
Loans and advances  
to customers - 4,230 9,195 66,538 326,595 (378) 406,180 
Tangible Assets - - - - - 1,151 1,151 
Intangible Assets - - - - - 1,574 1,574 
Other Assets - - - - - 515 515 

Total Assets 103,114 6,531 19,624 66,568 326,595 3,309 525,741 

Liabilities 

Shares 226,870 125,830 42,574 49,259 417 1,466 446,416 
Amounts owed to other 
customers - 6,950 2,454 40,438 - 43 49,885 
Derivative financial 
instruments - 5 111 1,212 - - 1,328 
Provisions for Liabilities  
FSCS Levy - - - - - - - 
Other Liabilities - - - - - 1,390 1,390 
Reserves - - - - - 26,722 26,722 

Total Liabilities 226,870 132,785 45,139 90,909 417 29,621 525,741 

Net Liquidity Gap (123,756) (126,254) (25,515) (24,341) 326,178 (26,312) -
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27.10 Financial Instruments (cont) 
Group and Society
 31 March 2020 

On 
demand 

£000s

Not 
more 

than three 
months 

 

£000s

More 
than 

three 
months 
but not 

more 
than one 

year 
£000s

More 
than 

one year 
but not 

more 
than five 

years 

 £000s

More 
than five 

years 

 

 

£000s

No 
specific 

maturity
and loss 

provision 
 

£000s

Total 

£000s
Assets
Cash in hand and balances 
with Bank of England 64,969 - - - - 677 65,646 
Loans and advances to 
credit institutions 6,759 1,756 - - - - 8,515 
Debt securities - 4,022 12,096 10,773 - - 26,891 
Derivative financial 
instruments - 17 37 70 - - 124 
Loans and advances  
to customers 1,738 706 2,239 31,602 401,867 (1,548) 436,604 
Tangible Assets - - - - - 1,319 1,319 
Intangible Assets - - - - - 1,574 1,574 
Other Assets - - - - - 1,350 1,350 

Total Assets 73,466 6,501 14,372 42,445 401,867 2,656 541,307 

Liabilities 

Shares 144,860 177,848 56,582 69,556 - - 448,846 

Amounts owed to other 
customers institutions 1,571 9,264 17,597 35,827 - - 64,259 
Derivative financial 
instruments - 49 627 1,298 - - 1,974 
Provisions for Liabilities  
FSCS Levy - - - - - - - 

Other Liabilities - - - - - 1,295 1,295 

Reserves - - - - - 24,933 24,933 

Total Liabilities 146,431 187,161 74,806 106,681 - 26,228 541,307 

Net Liquidity Gap (72,965) (180,660) (60,434) (64,236) 401,867 (23,572) -
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27.11 Financial Instruments 

Group and Society
 31 March 2021 

On 
demand 

£000s

Not 
more 

than three 
months 

 

£000s

More 
than 

three 
months 
but not 

more 
than one 

year 
£000s

More 
than 

one year 
but not 

more 
than five 

years 

 £000s

No 
specific 

maturity 
 

 

£000s

Total 

£000s

Liabilities 

Shares 227,494 125,934 43,817 51,006 - 448,251 
Amounts owed to other customers - 7,000 2,503 40,564 - 50,067 
Derivative financial instruments - 146 554 934 - 1,634 
Other Liabilities - - - - 2,755 2,755 

Total Liabilities 227,494 133,080 46,874 92,504 2,755 502,707 

Group and Society
 31 March 2020 

On 
demand 

£000s

Not 
more 

than three 
months 

 

£000s

More 
than 

three 
months 
but not 

more 
than one 

year 
£000s

More 
than 

one year 
but not 

more 
than five 

years 

 £000s

No 
specific 

maturity 
and loss 

provision 
 

£000s

Total 

£000s

Liabilities 

Shares 144,836 178,113 57,013 72,495 - 452,457 
Amounts owed to other customers 1,571 9,273 17,661 35,879 - 64,384 
Derivative financial instruments - 49 627 1,298 - 1,974 

Total Liabilities 146,407 187,435 75,301 109,672 - 518,815 

The tables below set out maturity analysis for financial liabilities that shows the remaining contractual maturities at 
undiscounted amounts. The analysis of gross contractual cash flows differs from the analysis of residual maturity 
due to the inclusion of interest accrued at current rates, for the average period until maturity on the amounts 
outstanding at the statement of financial position date. 
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27.12 Financial Instruments 

Market risk 

Market Risk’ is the risk that the fair value of future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. Market prices comprise 
three types of risk; currency risk, interest rate risk and 
other price risk. As the Society is not exposed to foreign 
currencies the main market risk faced by the Society is 
interest rate risk. The Society’s products are all based on 
market interest rates so are not exposed to other  
pricing risks. 

Further information on the Society’s management of 
interest rate risk can be found in the Directors’ report  
on page 19. 

The analysis below summarises the Society’s exposure 
to interest rate risk and present the Society’s assets and 
liabilities by repricing date, along with the derivative 
financial instruments that are used in the management 
of interest rate risk exposures. 

The management of interest rate risk against interest 
rate gap limits is supplemented by monitoring the 
sensitivity of the Society’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities to various standard and non-standard interest 
rate scenarios. Standard scenarios that are considered 
on a monthly basis include a 200-basis point (bp) 
parallel fall or rise in interest rates. 

Other interest rate exposures, for example, basis risk 
(the risk of loss arising from changes in the relationship 
between interest rates which have similar but not 
identical characteristics – Bank of England Bank rate 
and Libor,) and prepayment risk (the risk of loss arising 
from early redemption of fixed rate mortgages and 
loans) are also monitored closely and regularly reported 
to ALCO. 
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27.12 Financial Instruments (cont) 

Group and Society
 31 March 2021 

Not 
more 

than three 
months 

 

£000s

More 
than 

three 
months 
but not 

more 
than one 

year 
£000s

More 
than 

one year 
but not 

more 
than five 

years 

 £000s

No 
specific 

maturity 
and loss 

provision
 

 £000s

Total 

£000s

Financial assets 

Liquid Assets 104,899 10,301 - 1,056 116,256 
Loans and advances 245,239 34,649 126,670 (378) 406,180 
Derivative financial instruments 5 30 30 - 65 
Other Assets - - - 3,240 3,240 

Total Financial Assets 350,143 44,980 126,700 3,918 525,741 

Financial Liabilities 

Shares and amounts owed to customers 403,643 41,537 49,566 1,555 496,301 
Derivative financial instruments 5 111 1,212 - 1,328 
Other liabilities - - - 1,390 1,390 
Reserves - - - 26,722 26,722 

Total Financial Liabilities 403,648 41,648 50,778 29,667 525,741 

Impact of Derivative Financial Instruments 92,200 (20,900) (71,300) - - 
Interest rate sensitivity gap 
Sensitivity to Profit and Reserves 38,695 (17,568) 4,622 (25,749) - 

Parallel shift of +2% (98) 228 (670) - (540) 
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27.12 Financial Instruments (cont) 

Group and Society
 31 March 2020 

Not 
more 

than three 
months 

 

£000s

More 
than 

three 
months 
but not 

more 
than one 

year 
£000s

More 
than 

one year 
but not 

more 
than five 

years 

 £000s

No 
specific 

maturity 
and loss 

provision
 

 £000s

Total 

£000s

Financial assets 

Liquid Assets 77,480 12,055 10,746 771 101,052 
Loans and advances 243,538 27,440 167,174 (1,548) 436,604 
Derivative financial instruments 17 37 70 - 124 
Other Assets - - - 3,527 3,527 

Total Financial Assets 321,035 39,532 177,990 2,750 541,307 

Financial Liabilities 

Shares and amounts owed to customers 380,855 61,300 70,950 - 513,105 
Derivative financial instruments 49 627 1,298 - 1,974 
Other liabilities - - - 1,295 1,295 
Reserves - - - 24,933 24,933 

Total Financial Liabilities 380,904 61,927 72,248 26,228 541,307 

Impact of Derivative Financial Instruments 95,100 (9,600) (85,500) - - 
Interest rate sensitivity gap 
Sensitivity to Profit and Reserves 35,231 (31,995) 20,242 (23,478) - 

Parallel shift of +2% (89) 430 (14) - 327 
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28. Operating Leases 

29. Related Parties 

Annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:- 

 

Group and  
Society  

2021
 £000s

Group and  
Society  

2020  
£000s

Up to five years 26 24 

Over five years 125 129 

 

No of key 
management 

personnel 
and their 

close family 
members 

Amounts in 
respect of 

key 
management 

personnel and 
their close 

family 
members 

2021  
£000s

No of key 
management 

personnel 
and their 

close family 
members 

Amounts in 
respect of 

key 
management 

personnel and 
their close 

family 
members 

2020  
£000s

Mortgage Loans   

At 1 April 2020 2 304 At 1 April 2019 2 391 
Net Movements  
in the year (1) (94) Net Movements  

in the year - (87)

At 31 March 2021 1 210 At 31 March 2020 2 304

Deposit Accounts 
and Investments   

At 1 April 2020 10 49 At 1 April 2019 10 50 
Net Movements  
in the year (1) (26) Net Movements  

in the year - (1)

At 31 March 2021 9 23 At 31 March 2020 10 49

At 31 March 2021, there was one (2020: two) outstanding mortgage loan granted in the ordinary course of business to Directors  
or connected persons amounting to £210,317 (2020: £304,355). 

All Directors are required to maintain a savings balance of at least £1,000 each in the Society. At 31 March 2021 the aggregate 
balances held by Non-Executive and Executive Directors in Dudley Building Society savings accounts was £22,736 (2020: £49,424). 

Key management personnel and their close family members paid interest totalling £6,167 (2020:£11,555), received interest totalling 
£68 (2020:£94), and paid no fees and commissions during the year. There were no material transactions between the Society and 
its subsidiary undertaking Dudley Financial Services Limited.
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30. Capital 

The Board’s policy is to increase the Society’s capital base to further strengthen the confidence Members and other 
stakeholders have in the Society as well as support continued investment in the development of the business.  
The Society’s capital requirements are set and monitored by the Prudential Regulatory Authority (PRA). The Society 
operates a formal Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) to determine and demonstrate how these 
requirements are met. The ICAAP also sets out the framework for the Society’s internal governance and oversight of 
its risk and capital management policies and is used to assist with the management of capital and risk exposures. 

The Society’s actual and forecasted capital positions are reviewed against a risk appetite that requires capital to 
be maintained at a specific minimum level above regulatory capital requirements. There have been no material 
changes to the Society’s management of capital in the year. 

Note

Group and  
Society 2021  

£000s

Group and 
Society 2020 

£000s
Common Equity Tier 1 
General reserve 26 26,739 24,955
Available for sale reserve 26 (17) (22) 
Prudent valuation adjustment - (12) (28) 
Intangible assets 18 (1,574) (1,350) 

Total common equity tier 1 capital 25,136 23,555 

Tier 2 Capital 
Collective provision 14 635 996 

Total tier 2 capital 635 996 

Total regulatory capital 25,771 24,551

Under Basel III Pillar 3 the Society is required to publish additional disclosures regarding its capital position and exposures.  
The Society’s Pillar 3 Disclosures are published on the Society’s website www.dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk 

31. Country by Country Disclosures 
The Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country 
Reporting) Regulations 2013 introduced reporting 
obligations for institutions within the scope of the 
European Union’s Capital Requirements Directive  
(CRD IV). 

Article 89 of the Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD 
IV) requires credit institutions and investment firms in the 
EU to report annually, specifying, by Member State and 
by third country in which they have an establishment, 
the following information on a consolidated basis for the 
financial year: 

Name, nature of activities and geographical location:
The Society has a single subsidiary that is dormant and 
operates only in the United Kingdom. The Society is a 
Credit Institution whose principal activities are deposit 
taking and secured lending 

Average number of employees: 
As disclosed in note 6 to the accounts 

Annual turnover: 
Equivalent to total income and, along with profit before 
tax, is as disclosed in the Income Statement on page 47 

Corporation tax paid: 
As disclosed in the cash flow statement on page 50 

Public subsidies: 
There were none received in the year
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Independent auditors’ report to the directors of Dudley 
Building Society 

Report on the audit of the country-by-country information 
Opinion 

In our opinion, Dudley Building Society’s country-by-country information for the year ended 31 March 2021 has been 
properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-
Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

We have audited the country-by-country information for the year ended 31 March 2021 in the Country-by-Country Report. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”), including ISA (UK) 
800 and ISA (UK) 805, and applicable law. Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ 
responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence 

We remained independent of the Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
country-by-country information in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Emphasis of matter - Basis of preparation 

In forming our opinion on the country-by-country information, which is not modified, we draw attention to the country-by-
country information which describes the basis of preparation. The country-by-country information is prepared for the 
directors for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) 
Regulations 2013. The country-by-country information has therefore been prepared in accordance with a special purpose 
framework and, as a result, the country-by-country information may not be suitable for another purpose. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the Society’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
included: 
 

 A risk assessment to identify factors that could impact the going concern basis of accounting, including the current 
and forecast financial performance, regulatory metrics and the sector in which the Group and Society operates. As 
part of our risk assessment, we reviewed and considered the Group’s corporate plan, ICAAP and ILAAP, regulatory 
correspondence and management reports provided to key governance forums;  

 Evaluation of the reasonableness of the Group and Society’s corporate plans, covering a period upto March 2024, 
including testing key assumptions and performance of sensitivity analysis using our understanding of the Group 
and its financial and operating performance obtained through the course of our audit. We have also considered the 
historical accuracy of previous corporate plans as part of this assessment; 

 Evaluation of the Group’s and Society’s access to the Bank of England funding facilities; and 

 Testing of the appropriateness of the disclosures made in the Annual report and accounts.  

 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date on which the country-by-country information is authorised for issue. 
 
In auditing the country-by-country information, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the country-by-country information is appropriate. 
 
However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the Society’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 
 
Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the country-by-country information in accordance with the 
requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the basis of 
preparation in note 31, and for determining that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are acceptable in the 
circumstances. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of country-by-country information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information 

It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in accordance 
with the relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of this country-by-country information.  

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line 
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The 
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. 
 
Based on our understanding of the Society and its industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with 
laws and regulations related to the Financial Conduct Authority’s regulations, the Prudential Regulation Authority’s 
regulations and the UK tax legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect 
on the country-by-country information. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the 
country-by-country information such as Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. We 
evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the country-by-country information 
(including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate 
journal entries and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed included: 

 Discussions with management and those charged with governance including consideration of known or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud; 

 Reading key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulatory Authority; 
 Review of internal audit reports in so far as they related to the annual report; 
 Reviewing relevant meeting minutes including those of the Audit and Compliance committee; 
 Incorporation of an element of unpredictability in our testing through altering the nature, timing and/or 

extent of work performed; 
 Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates (see 

key audit matters below); and 
 Identifying and testing journal entries meeting certain risk-based criteria, including unusual or unexpected 

account combinations. 
 
 
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the country-by-
country information. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not 
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Society’s directors in accordance with the Capital 
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this 
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Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report. 
 
Responsibilities for the country-by-country information and the audit 

Responsibilities of the directors for the country-by-country information 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the country-by-country information in accordance with the 
requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 as explained in the basis of 
preparation in note 31, and for determining that the basis of preparation and accounting policies are acceptable in the 
circumstances. The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of country-by-country information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the country-by-country information, the directors are responsible for assessing the Society’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information 

It is our responsibility to report on whether the country-by-country information has been properly prepared in accordance 
with the relevant requirements of the Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the country-by-country information as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of this country-by-country information.  

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line 
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The 
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below. 
 
Based on our understanding of the Society and its industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with 
laws and regulations related to the Financial Conduct Authority’s regulations, the Prudential Regulation Authority’s 
regulations and the UK tax legislation, and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect 
on the country-by-country information. We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the 
country-by-country information such as Capital Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013. We 
evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the country-by-country information 
(including the risk of override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate 
journal entries and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed included: 

 Discussions with management and those charged with governance including consideration of known or 
suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations and fraud; 

 Reading key correspondence with the Financial Conduct Authority and the Prudential Regulatory Authority; 
 Review of internal audit reports in so far as they related to the annual report; 
 Reviewing relevant meeting minutes including those of the Audit and Compliance committee; 
 Incorporation of an element of unpredictability in our testing through altering the nature, timing and/or 

extent of work performed; 
 Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their significant accounting estimates (see 

key audit matters below); and 
 Identifying and testing journal entries meeting certain risk-based criteria, including unusual or unexpected 

account combinations. 
 
 
There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the country-by-
country information. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not 
detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional 
misrepresentations, or through collusion. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the country-by-country information is located on the FRC’s 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report. 

Use of this report 

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Society’s directors in accordance with the Capital 
Requirements (Country-by-Country Reporting) Regulations 2013 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this 
opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come, save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Milton Keynes  
20 May 2021 
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Annual Business Statement 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

1. Statutory Percentages

  
2021

%

2020

%

Statutory  
limit  

%
Lending limit 0.31 0.37 25.00 
Funding limit 10.05 12.52 50.00 

The above percentages have been calculated in 
accordance with the provisions of the Building Societies 
Act 1986. 

The lending limit measures the proportion of business 
assets not in the form of loans fully secured on 
residential property. 

The funding limit measures the proportion of shares and 
borrowings other than those from individuals. 

Business assets are the total assets of the Society 
as shown in the Statement of Financial Position plus 
provisions for bad and doubtful debts, less tangible fixed 
assets and liquid assets. 

Loans fully secured on residential property are the 
amount of principal owing by borrowers and interest 
accrued not yet payable. This is the amount shown in 
the Statement of Financial Position plus provisions for 
bad and doubtful debts. 

The statutory limits are laid down under the Building 
Societies Act 1986 and ensure that the principal purpose 
of a building society is that of making loans which are 
secured on residential property and that the Society is 
funded substantially by its members.
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Annual Business Statement (cont) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

1. Other Percentages

  
2021

%
2020

%
As a percentage of shares and borrowings 
Gross capital 5.38 4.86 
Free capital 4.96 4.53 
Liquid assets 23.42 19.69
As a percentage of mean total assets
Profit after tax 0.34 0.23 
Management expenses 1.64 1.65 

The above percentages have been prepared from the 
Society‘s accounts. 

‘Shares and borrowings’ represent the aggregate of 
shares and amounts owed to credit institutions and 
other customers. 

‘Gross capital’ comprises general reserves and 
Available-for-Sale reserves. ‘Free capital’ comprises 
gross capital and collective provisions for bad and 
doubtful debts less tangible and intangible fixed assets. 

 ‘Liquid assets’ represents the total of cash in hand, 
treasury bills, loans and advances to credit institutions 
and debt securities as shown in the Statement of 
Financial Position. 

‘Mean total assets’ are the average of the total assets at 
the beginning and end of the relevant financial years. 

‘Profit after taxation’ represents the profit for the financial 
year as shown in the income statement. 

‘Management expenses’ represent the aggregate of 
administrative expenses, depreciation and amortisation 
and other operating charges.
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Annual Business Statement (cont) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

3. Information Relating to the Directors and Other Officers at 31 March 2021

Name
  
Date of  
Appointment

Occupation Other  
Directorships 

Peter Hubbard 16/01/2020 Non-Executive Director Edgepool Limited 
Paul Doona 15/06/2012 Chartered Accountant Raynol Ltd 

Stanmay Ltd 
Seven Capital Investment (Holdings) Ltd 
Paul Doona & Associates Ltd 
Coplan Estates (Caterham) Ltd 
Welton Connections Ltd 
The Warwickshire Country Cricket Club

Zamir Chaudhry 13/09/2018 Strategy and Risk Advisor UMNA Ltd 

Nicole Coll 16/01/2020 Executive Director Banks and Clients PLC British Friendly 
Society Ltd 
The Granville School Wildernesse 
Avenue Road Trust 

Tariq Khatri 13/12/2018 Management Consultant Machinable Ltd 

Jeremy Wood 06/06/2012 Chief Executive Dudley Financial Solutions Ltd 
Lucklaw Estates Ltd
Bidston Court Management Company Ltd
Seebeck 64 Ltd 
Hannington Associates Ltd

Kieron Blackburn 13/07/2020 Finance Director  

Samantha Ward 01/02/2020 Commercial Director 

Documents may be served on the above-named 
Directors at the Society’s Registered Office at 7 Harbour 
Buildings, The Waterfront, Brierley Hill, DY5 1LN. 
Jeremy Wood, Kieron Blackburn and Samantha Ward 
have service contracts dated 17 May 2012, 13 July 2020 
and 1 February 2020 respectively. Twelve months’ notice 
is required to be given by the Society to Jeremy Wood 
and six months’ notice by the individual. 

 

Six months’ notice is required to be given by the Society 
to Samantha Ward and six months’ notice by the 
individual. Kieron Blackburn is subject to a one-year fixed 
term contract and requires three months’ notice by the 
Society to Kieron Blackburn and three months’ notice by 
the individual. There are no contractual arrangements in 
respect of bonuses, deferred consideration or amended 
arrangements in the event of a transfer of engagement.
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Annual Business Statement (cont) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2021

4. Information Relating to the Directors and Other Officers at 31 March 2021 - Other Officers

Name Occupation Other  
Directorships 

Lorraine Breese-Price Head of Operations - 
Ali Fellows Head of Compliance  

and Financial Crime
-

Liz Hart Head of Planning, Information 
and Prudential 

- 

Claire Hyde Society Secretary - 
Megan Price Head of Strategy and 

Organisational Development 
Dudley Academies Trust 

Muzammil Shabudin Chief Risk Officer and Money 
Laundering Reporting Officer 

- 

Oliver Slimm Head of Credit Risk  
and Underwriting 

 -

Pav Uppal Head of IT  
and Information Security 

-

Jonathan Young Financial Controller  -



Principal Office
Dudley Building Society 
7 Harbour Buildings, The Waterfront,  
Brierley Hill DY5 1LN 

01384 231414  
enquiries@dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk

Brierley Hill 
107 High Street, Brierley Hill DY5 3AU

01384 70420 
brierleyhill@dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk 

Dudley 
Dudley House, Stone Street, Dudley DY1 1NP

01384 253034 
dudley@dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk 

Kingswinford 
1 Townsend Place, Kingswinford DY6 9JL 

01384 278326 
kingswinford@dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk 

Perton 
6 Anders Square, Perton WV6 7QH 

01902 755540 
perton@dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk 

Gornal Wood 
20 Abbey Road, Gornal Wood DY3 2PG

01384 214671  
gornalwood@dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk 

Stay in touch
From time to time, we’d like to contact 
you with all the latest news and 
updates from Dudley Building Society. 

We think it is important for us to stay 
connected and for you to get the most 
out of your membership. 

Please ensure your marketing 
preferences and contact details are 
up to date when talking to a member 
of our team or by registering with us 
online. 

dudleybuildingsociety.co.uk

*Branch opening hours - Due to 
COVID-19, there may be periods when 
branch opening hours are reduced or 
changed. Please monitor our website 
and social media channels to check 
the opening times and status of your 
local branch.

Monday, Tuesday, Thursday  
and Friday: 9.00am - 5.00pm 

Wednesday: 9.30am - 5.00pm

Saturday: 9.00am - 12.00pm

Sunday: Closed

Opening hours*

Get in touch



101



Dudley Building Society is authorised by the Prudential Regulation 
Authority and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority and 
Prudential Regulation Authority (registration number 161294).

Dudley Building Society
Dudley Building Society
@dudleybuildingsociety

@DudleyBS

Follow us on social media 
for the latest on what we’re up to.


